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Important Information

Offer

The Offer contained in this Prospectus is an invitation to acquire Shares in Mingguan USA 
Limited, a public company validly incorporated under the laws of New South Wales, 
Australia.

Lodgement and Listing

This Prospectus is dated 10 January 2021. A copy of this Prospectus was lodged with The 
Financial Regulator on 10 January 2021. A copy of this Prospectus will be lodged with First 
Nations Stock Exchange following the exposure period. Neither The Financial Regulator nor 
First Nations Stock Exchange or their officers take any responsibility for the contents of this 
Prospectus or the merits of the investment to which the Prospectus related. 

Expiry Date

No Shares will be allotted or issued on the basis of this Prospectus later than 12 months 
after the date of this Prospectus.

Note to Applicants

The information in this Prospectus is not financial product advice and does not take into 
account your investment objectives, financial situation or particular needs. This Prospectus 
should not be construed as financial, taxation, legal or other advice. This Prospectus is 
important and should, along with each of the documents incorporated by reference, be read 
in its entirety prior to deciding whether to invest in the Company’s Shares. There are risks 
associated with an investment in the Shares and the Shares offered under this Prospectus 
must be regarded as a speculative investment. Some of the risks that should be considered 
are set out in Section 9 (Risk Factors) of this Prospectus. You should carefully consider 
these risks in light of your personal circumstances (including financial and tax issues). There 
may also be risks in addition to these that should be considered in light of your personal 
circumstances. If you do not fully understand this Prospectus or are in doubt as to how to 
deal with it, you should seek professional guidance from your stockbroker, lawyer, 
accountant or other professional adviser before deciding whether to invest in the Shares. No 
person named in this Prospectus guarantees the Company’s performance or any return 
on investment made pursuant to this Prospectus.

No Offering where Offering would be Illegal

This Prospectus does not constitute an Offer or invitation in any place in which, or to any 
person to whom, it would not be lawful to make such an offer or invitation. No action has 
been taken to register or qualify the Shares or the Offer, or to otherwise permit a public 
offering of Shares, in any jurisdiction outside the The Cherokee Nation. The taxation 
treatment of The Cherokee Nation securities may not be the same as those for securities 
in foreign jurisdictions. If you are uncertain about whether this investment is appropriate for 
you, you should seek the advice of an appropriately qualified financial adviser.

The distribution of this Prospectus outside the legal jurisdiction may be restricted by law 
and therefore any person who resides outside the legal jurisdiction and who receives this 
Prospectus should seek advice on and observe any such restrictions. Any person who has 
a registered address in any other country who receives this Prospectus may only apply for 
Shares where that person is  able to reasonably demonstrate to the satisfaction of the 
Company that the person may participate in the Offer relying on a relevant exception from, 
or are not otherwise subject to, the lodgement, filing, registration or other requirements 
of any applicable securities laws in the jurisdiction in which they have a registered address. 



The Company will not offer to sell, nor solicit an offer to purchase, any securities in any 
jurisdiction where such offer, sale or solicitation may not lawfully be made. Any failure to 
comply with these restrictions may constitute violation of applicable laws.

Notice to United States Residents

The securities being offered pursuant to this Prospectus have not been registered under the 
US Securities Act and may not be offered or sold in the United States absent registration or 
an applicable exemption from registration under the US Securities Act and applicable State 
securities laws. This Prospectus does not constitute an offer or invitation to sell, or the 
solicitation of an offer to buy, nor shall there be any sale of these securities in any state or 
other jurisdiction in which such offer, solicitation or sale would be unlawful. Any hedging 
transactions involving these securities may not be conducted unless in compliance with the 
US Securities Act and applicable State securities laws. 

Notice to Hong Kong Residents

The contents of this Prospectus have not been reviewed by any regulatory authority 
in Hong Kong. You are advised to exercise caution in relation to the Offer. If you are in any 
doubt about any of the contents of this Prospectus, you should obtain independent 
professional advice.

Notice to PRC Residents 

The information in this document does not constitute a public offer of the New Shares, 
whether by way of sale or subscription, in the People’s Republic of China (excluding, for 
purposes of this paragraph only, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, Macau Special 
Administrative Region and Taiwan). The New Shares may not be offered or sold directly or 
indirectly in the PRC to legal or natural persons other than directly to “qualified domestic 
institutional investors”.

Financial Information and Amounts

The “Financial Information” section in Section 6 sets out in detail the Financial Information 
referred to in the Prospectus. The basis of preparation of the Financial Information is set out 
in the “Financial Information” in Section 6. All references to FY2016, FY2017, FY2018 and 
1H2019 appearing in this Prospectus are to the financial years ended or ending 
31 December 2016, 31 December 2017, 31 December 2018 or the half year period ending 
on 30 June 2019 respectively, unless otherwise indicated. Historical Financial Information 
has been prepared in accordance with the recognition and measurement principles 
prescribed by International Financial Reporting Standards. The Historical Financial 
Information in this Prospectus should be read in conjunction with, and they are qualified by, 
reference to the information contained in Section 6. The functional currency of the operating 
entities owned by Mingguan USA Limited is Chinese Yuan, and the historical financial 
reports of entities owned by Mingguan USA Limited were presented in RMB. The 
presentation currency in this Prospectus is United States dollars. Save as set out above, 
the financial amounts referred to in this Prospectus are expressed in United States dollars 
unless stated otherwise. The Company has adopted the foreign currency rate  as 
determined by the Bank of China for the applicable year. Accordingly, investors should be 
aware that the amounts represented in the Prospectus may change as a result of 
fluctuations in the exchange rates between AUD, USD and RMB.

Disclaimer

Investors should not rely on any information which is not contained in this Prospectus 
in making a decision as to whether to acquire Shares in the Company under the Offer. No 



person is authorised by the Company or the Lead Arranger to give any information or make 
any representation in connection with the Offer that is not contained in the Prospectus. Any 
information or representation not contained in this Prospectus may not be relied on as 
having been authorised by the Company, its Directors or any other person in connection 
with the Offer. The Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and 
prospects may have changed since the date of this Prospectus. This Prospectus contains 
forward-looking statements concerning the Company’s business, operations, financial 
performance and condition as well as the Company’s plans, objectives and expectations for 
its business, operations and financial performance and condition. 

Any statements contained in this Prospectus that are not of historical facts may be deemed 
to be forward-looking statements. You can identify these statements by words such  as 
“aim”, “anticipate”, “assume”, “believe”, “could”, “due”, “estimate”, “expect”, “goal”, “intend”, 
“may”, objective”, “plan”, “predict”, “potential”, “positioned”, “should”, “target”, “will”, “would” 
and other similar expressions that are predictions of or indicate future events and 
future trends. These forward-looking statements are based on current expectations, 
estimates and projections about the Company’s business and the industry in which the 
Company operates and management’s beliefs and assumptions. These forward looking 
statements are not guarantees of future performance or development and involve known 
and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that are in some cases beyond the 
Company’s control. As a result, any or all of the Company’s forward-looking statements 
in this Prospectus may turn out to be inaccurate. Factors that may cause such differences 
include, but are not limited to, the risks described under the heading “Risk factors” 
in Section 9. Potential investors and other readers are urged to consider these factors 
carefully in evaluating the forward-looking statements and are cautioned not to place undue 
reliance on the forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements speak only 
as at the date of this Prospectus. 

Unless required by law, the Company does not intend to publicly update or revise any 
forward-looking statements to reflect new information or future events or otherwise. You 
should, however, review the factors and risks the Company describes in the reports to be 
filed from time to time with First Nations Stock Exchange after the date of this Prospectus. 
This Prospectus contains market data and industry forecasts that were obtained from 
industry publications, third-party market research and publicly available information. These 
publications generally state that the information contained in them has been obtained from 
sources believed to be reliable, but the Company has not independently verified the 
accuracy and completeness of such information. 

Some numerical figures included in this Prospectus have been subject to rounding 
adjustments. Accordingly, numerical figures shown as totals in certain tables may not be an 
arithmetic aggregation of the figures that preceded them. This Prospectus also includes 
trademarks, trade names and service marks that are the property of other organisations.

Local Sponsor

Fox Consultants shall act as local sponsor in relation to the Offer. The Local Sponsor has 
not authorised, permitted or caused the issue or lodgement, submission, dispatch or 
provision of this Prospectus and there is no statement in this Prospectus that is based 
on any statement made by it or by any of its affiliates, officers or employees. To the 
maximum extent permitted by law, the Local Sponsor and its affiliates, officers, employees 
and advisers expressly disclaim all liabilities in respect of, and make no representations 
regarding, and take no responsibility for, any part of this Prospectus other than references 
to its name and make no representation or warranty as to the currency, accuracy, reliability 
or completeness of this Prospectus. 



Exposure Period

The Cherokee Nation Law prevents the Company from processing Applications under the 
Offer in the 14-day period after the lodgement of the Prospectus with The Financial 
Regulator. 

Electronic Prospectus

This Prospectus will also be made available in electronic form on the Company’s website. 
Any references to documents included on the Company’s website are for convenience only, 
and none of the documents or other information available on the website is incorporated  by 
reference in this Prospectus. The Offer constituted by this Prospectus in electronic form is 
available only to persons receiving this Prospectus in electronic form within the legal 
jurisdictions. Persons who access the electronic version of this Prospectus should ensure 
that they download and read the entire Prospectus. If unsure about the completeness of the 
Prospectus received electronically, or a print out of it, you should contact the Company. 

Applications for Shares under this Prospectus may only be made on a printed copy of the 
Application Form attached to or accompanying this Prospectus. The laws of the The 
Cherokee Nation prohibit any person from passing the Application Form on to another 
person unless it is attached to a hard copy of the Prospectus or the complete and unaltered 
electronic version of the Prospectus. If this Prospectus is found to be deficient, any 
Applications may need to be dealt with in accordance with the laws of the The Cherokee 
Nation. 

Privacy

By completing an Application Form, you are providing personal information to the Company 
and the Registry, which is contracted by the Company to manage Applications, and consent 
to the collection and use of that personal information in accordance with these terms. That 
personal information will be collected, held and used both in and outside of the legal 
jurisdiction by the Company, and the Registry on its behalf, to process your Application, 
service your needs as a Shareholder, provide facilities and services that you request and 
carry out appropriate administration of your investment. If you do not wish to provide this 
information, the Company may not be able to process your Application. 

Once you become a Shareholder, local laws require information about you (including your 
name, address and details of the Shares you hold) to be included in the Company’s public 
share register. This information must continue to be included in the Company’s public share 
register even if you cease to be a Shareholder. The Company and the Registry on its 
behalf, may disclose your personal information for purposes related to your investment to 
their agents and service providers, including those listed below: 

• the Registry for ongoing administration of the Company’s public share register; 
• the Local Sponsor in order to assess your Application; 
• the local taxation authority and other government bodies as required by law; 
• printers and other companies for the purpose of preparation and distribution of statements 
and for handling mail;
• market research companies for the purpose of analysing the Shareholder base and for 
product development and planning; and 
• legal and accounting firms, auditors, contractors, consultants and other advisers for the 
purpose of administering, and advising on, the Shares and for associated actions. 



You may request access to your personal information that is held by, or on behalf of, the 
Company. You can request access to your personal information or obtain further information 
about the Company’s privacy practices by contacting the Company or the Registry, details 
of which are set out elsewhere in this Prospectus. The Company aims to ensure that the 
personal information it retains about you is accurate, complete and up-to-date. To assist 
with this, please contact the Company or the Registry if any of the details you have 
provided change.  

Defined Words and Abbreviations

Defined terms and abbreviations used in this Prospectus are defined in the 
“Glossary” section.  



Contents

Important Information 

Chairman’s Letter

Investment Overview

Details of the Offer

Industry Overview

Company Overview

Key Individuals, Interests and Benefits

Financial Information 

Investigating Accountant’s Report

Investing in PRC Based Businesses 

Risk Factors

Tax Report

Additional Information 

Glossary 



Chairman’s Letter

10 January 2021

Dear Investors

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I am pleased to invite you to become a Shareholder of 

Mingguan USA Limited (MGUS or Company).

The Company (ACN | 646 895 829) is incorporated in New South Wales, Australia and fully owns 
a subsidiary entity, Shaanxi Mingguan Biotechnology Limited Hong Kong (SMBL) (Registration 

no. 70161735) a company incorporated in Hong Kong. SMBL owns Shanghai Yi Ang 
Biotechnology Co. Ltd (SYAB), a wholly foreign owned enterprise (Registration no. 

91310115MA1K4ACTX3) an entity registered in the People’s Republic of China. SYAB fully 
controls the subsidiary entity, Shaanxi Mingguan Food & Beverage Co., Ltd (SMFB), a company 

incorporated under the laws of the People’s Republic of China, by way of a variable interest entity. 
SMFB is the operating entity controlled by the Company and is engaged in the business of 

manufacturing food and condiments. Its key products include soy sauce, speciality vinegar and 
snack foods. SMFB has operated for over 50 years. It currently produces more than 60 type of 

condiments and snack foods, which are sold throughout China and internationally. Last year, 
SMFB sold off 3,000 tonnes of soy sauce, 6,000 tonnes of vinegar and 1,000 tonnes of pastries.

The food and condiments industry is growing. Increased consumer wealth in China has led to 
increased living standards and heightened demand for food and snacks made from high quality 

ingredients. The present opportunity extends not only to this growing consumer base, but also 
China’s increasingly international outlook. 

As the first Australian owned Chinese company to list on First Nations Stock Exchange, the 

Company is taking advantage of China’s belt and road initiative. Closer ties between China and 
the rest of the globe offer opportunity for MGUS to reach new markets and consumer groups. 

Prior to listing, SMFB obtained FDA approval for export to the United States. The Company 
intends to leverage this to seek approval to export products to the international landscape of trade 

and export. 

The Company’s future strategy is to invest in new regions and further research and development 

opportunities. The listing process and the corresponding improved transparency and corporate 
governance will be a significant milestone in the Company’s development. The listing also 

provides the Company a unique opportunity to sincerely welcome those investors who share our 
vision by becoming the first group of public Shareholders of this promising Company. 

 



On behalf of the directors, I invite you to read this Prospectus carefully and in its entirety. If you 
are satisfied that this is an appropriate investment for you, we welcome you with great thanks. We 

look forward to our engagement with The Cherokee Nation and this significant moment for the co-
operative relationship between Australia, China and The Cherokee Nation. 

Yours Sincerely, 

Li Shi
Chairman – Mingguan USA Limited

   

 



1. Investment Overview

The information set out in this Section is intended to be a summary only and should be read in 

conjunction with the more detailed information appearing elsewhere in this Prospectus. In 
deciding whether to apply for Shares, you should read this Prospectus carefully and in its entirety. 

If you are in doubt as to the course you should follow, please consult your professional advisers.

1.1 Summary of the Offer

This Prospectus provides investors with the opportunity to participate in the initial public offering of 
New Shares in Mingguan USA Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of New South 

Wales, Australia.

The Offer

1. The above only represents the cash costs of the Offer yet to be paid as at the date of the 

Prospectus (i.e., total Offer costs less costs already paid as at the date of the Prospectus)

2. Calculated as the total number of Shares on issue on Completion of the Offer multiplied by the 

Offer Price.

Key Dates

These dates are indicative only and may change. The Company and the Local Sponsor reserve 
the right to vary the dates and times set out above subject to applicable laws. The Company 

reserves the right to vary the times and dates of the Offer including to close the Offer early, extend 
the Offer or to accept late Applications, either generally or in particular cases, without notification. 

Applications received under the Offer are irrevocable and may not be varied or withdrawn except 

Offer Price $1.00

Total number of New Shares to be issued 200,000

Number of Shares held by Existing Shareholders 60,000,000

Total number of Shares on issue at Completion of the Offer 60,200,000

Total cash proceeds to the Company from the Offer $200,000

Costs of the offer to be paid from the cash proceeds (estimate)1 $200,000

Market capitalisation at Completion of the Offer2 $60,200,000

Event Date 

Lodgement of Prospectus with The Financial Regulator 10 January 2021

Issue of New Shares 10 January 2021

 



as required by law. Investors are therefore encouraged to submit their Application Forms as early 
as possible after the Offer opens.

How to invest
Applications for New Shares can only be made by completing and lodging the Application 

Form attached to or accompanying this Prospectus. Instructions on how to apply for Shares 
are set out in Section 2.2 of this Prospectus and on the back of the Application Form.

Admission to the Official List of First Nations Stock Exchange
The Prospectus is also issued for the purpose of qualifying the Company for admission to 

the Official List of First Nations Stock Exchange. The Company will apply to First Nations 
Stock Exchange for listing and quotation of its Shares, including the New Shares, within 

seven days after the date of the Prospectus.

If First Nations Stock Exchange does not grant permission for official quotation of the Shares 
within three months after the date of this Prospectus, or such longer period permitted by local 

law, none of the Shares offered for subscription under this Prospectus will be allotted or 
issued and Application Monies will be refunded. No interest will be paid on any Application 

Monies refunded as a result of the withdrawal of the Offer.

1.2 Overview of the Company

Nature of the 
Company’s 

business

MGUS is a public company incorporated under the laws of 
New South Wales, Australia. The Company owns fully 

Shaanxi Mingguan Food & Beverage Co., Ltd, (SMFB) a 
company incorporated under the laws of the the People’s 

Republic of China. SMFB is engaged in the business of 
manufacturing food and condiments. Its key products include 

premium soy sauce, vinegar and snack foods.

Section 4.1

 



Corporate 

structure

The Group’s structure is as follows: 

Mingguan USA Limited, Australia, (Listed Entity) fully owns 

Shaanxi MingGuan Biotechnology Limited, Hong Kong, 

which owns

Shanghai Yi Ang Biotechnology Co. Ltd (a Wholly Foreign 
Owned Enterprise), China, which fully controls

Shaanxi Mingguan Food & Beverage Co., Ltd through a 
variable interest entity (Operating Entity).

Or:

Mingguan USA Limited (ACN | 646 895 829) is incorporated 
in New South Wales, Australia and fully owns a subsidiary 

entity, Shaanxi Mingguan Biotechnology Limited Hong Kong 
(SMBL) (Registration no. 70161735) a company incorporated 

in Hong Kong. SMBL owns Shanghai Yi Ang Biotechnology 
Co. Ltd (SYAB), a wholly foreign owned enterprise 

(Registration no. 91310115MA1K4ACTX3) an entity 
registered in the People’s Republic of China. SYAB fully 

controls the subsidiary entity, Shaanxi Mingguan Food & 
Beverage Co., Ltd (SMFB), a company incorporated under 

the laws of the People’s Republic of China, by way of a 
variable interest entity. SMFB is the operating entity controlled 

by the Mingguan USA Limited. 

Section 11.2

How the Company 

generates revenue

SMFB’s income is generated from the sales and distribution 

of food and condiment products in China and overseas, 
which it develops and manufactures.

S e c t i o n s 

4 . 3 a n d 
4.4

Product Range SMFB manufactures more than 60 products. Key products 
include:

• Premium Vinegar: speciality vinegars that meet the needs 
of Chinese cooking.

• Premium Soy Sauce: specialty soy sauce products for 

use with food. 

• Rice Crisps: a popular snack product in Central China. 

Section 
4.3

 



1.3 Key investment features

Intellectual 

Property

As at the date of this Prospectus, the Company and its 

entities have a total of 5 registered trademarks and 2 patents 
in relation to its packaging and design.

Sections 

4.5

Strengths and 
competitive 

advantage

The Company and its entities have the following key 
strengths:

• A long history with established brand recognition;

• Existing distribution networks and customer base;

• Geographical advantage as it is based in Shaanxi, near 
agricultural products used in production; and

• Existing FDA authorisation for the export of goods to the 

United States.

The Company believes that these core strengths enable it to 
compete effectively with its competitors.

Section 
4.6

Funding for 
operations

The Company expects to fund its operations through cash 
flow generated from its entities’ operations.

Section 
4.10

Strategies for 
growth

The Company intends to grow its business by:

• Investing in new procurement and R&D opportunities;

• Continued engagement with Chinese market; and

• Expanding and upgrading its existing facilities.

Section 
4.9

Facilities and 

Assets

The Company and its entities have approximately 16,000 

square metres of facilities, offices and factories in Hengxian, 
with further corporate offices in Chengguan. Both of these 

regions are located in Shaanxi, China. The Company’s 
registered office is located in Annangrove, New South 

Wales, Australia. 

Section 4.7

Management 

and employees

As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company and its 

entities have 85 employees.

Section 4.8

Future funding use This prospectus is to be used to comply with listing 

requirements for First Nations Stock Exchange. The funds 
raised will be used to cover fees associated with listing on 

First Nations Stock Exchange and to establish and provide 
cash flow for basic operations within The Cherokee Nation.

Section 4.10

 



1.4 Key risk factors

Investing in Shares involves substantial risks. The key risks as listed in the table below are not 

exhaustive and an investment in the Company should be considered speculative. Before making 
an investment decision, potential investors should read the entire Prospectus. In particular, 

investors should give full consideration to the detailed discussion on the risks that are associated 
with, and which could affect the financial performance of, an investment in the Company, as set 

out in “Risk factors” in Section 9.

Established Market The Company’s entities have a strong presence in China with over 50 

years of operating history. As middle class incomes increase, the demand 
for premium consumer goods is expected to increase. The Company is 

well positioned to take advantage of this growth. 

International 

Opportunities

The Company, as the first Australian-Chinese company listed on First 

Nations Stock Exchange, will be well positioned to take advantage of the 
increased trade and co-operation between global nations. 

Commitment to 
R&D

The Company is committed to research and development projects to 
ensure that products meet the taste of local markets. Investment into 

research and development is anticipated to create products that appeal 
to consumers globally. 

Company specific risks

Fluctuations 
in the supply 

of raw 
produce

As the Company’s subsidiary, SMFB’s products are 
dependent on the supply of raw agricultural produce, it faces 

natural agricultural risk, such as adverse weather conditions, 
disease, and pests. Any of these adverse factors can affect 

the supply of raw materials to SMFB, which may impact its 
production capabilities. This may have a material adverse 

effect on SMFB’s profitability and operating results.

Section 

9.2.1

Relationships 

with suppliers

As SMFB has long-term partnerships with numerous key 

suppliers, any loss of or changes to these key suppliers may 
have a material adverse effect on SMFB's production, sales, 

and terms of trade. Material increases in costs could also 
lead to higher procurement costs for SMFB, which could 

impact its existing gross margins and require it to source raw 
produce from other suppliers.

Section 

9.2.2

 



Relationship with 

distribution agents

SMFB has established loyal relationships with various 

distributors and sales agencies. In the event that a 
distributor or sales agency suspends or reduces its 

business activities, SMFB may not be able to find qualified 
and suitable distributors or sales agencies at an acceptable 

cost. This may adversely impact the SMFB’ business, 
financial position, operating results and prospects.

Section 

9.2.3

Changes to 
consumer 

preferences and 
consumption 

patterns

Demand for the SMFB’s products is affected by changes in 
consumer behaviour, preferences, and perceptions. In 

response to changes in consumer behaviour, SMFB may be 
required to decrease the price of its products, increase 

marketing expenses, and alter its product range. This may 
result in increased costs and decreased profits for the SMFB.

Section 

9.2.4

Food safety risk Food products can have a direct impact on the health and 
safety of consumers. Although SMFB has strict quality 

control systems, there is nevertheless risk that product 
quality issues may arise. If this occurs, SMFB may 

experience adverse impacts to its sales, reputation and 
corporate brand image.

Section 

9.2.5

Reliance on 
key personnel

SMFB’s business is reliant upon the provision of high-quality 
operational services by its senior and technical personnel. Any 

change in the quality or quantity of these services, or an 
inability to attract qualified and motivated personnel to provide 

these services, could affect SMFB’s business activities and 
financial performance.

Section 

9.2.6

Product price 
variation

Prices of the main products of SMFB (i.e. snack food and 
condiments) are affected by supply and demand variation in 

the consumer market. Aggressive behaviour by competitors 
may also reduce competition and result in a lowering of 

prices, and may decrease the overall sales volume should 
SMFB be unable to match prices.

Section 

9.2.7

Competition risk SMFB is subject to competition from domestic producers of 
food and condiment products. Certain market conditions may 

cause an increase in competition. Increased competition may 
reduce the volume and price of the products that SMFB is 

able to sell, which may have a material and adverse effect on 
the SMFB’s revenue and profitability and, in particular, its 

growth.

Section 

9.2.8

 



Reputation and 

trademarks

SMFB cannot ensure that there will not be any unauthorised 

usage or misuse of its brand; and any such infringement of its 
intellectual property rights in respect of its trademarks or 

patents may be detrimental to the Company’s reputation, lead 
to litigation or adversely affect financial performance.

Section 

9.2.9

PRC related risks

Chinese regulatory 

environment and 
associated risks

SMFB’s operations are subject to PRC Food Safety Laws 

and other regulations. The PRC’s legal system is largely 
based on legislation and prior case law has limited 

precedential value. However, the PRC is still in the process 
of developing a comprehensive statutory framework. Its legal 

system is still considered to be underdeveloped in 
comparison with the legal systems in some western 

countries.

Section 

9.3.1

Repatriation 

of dividends

As the Company generates the majority of its profit through 

the business operations of SMFB, the ability of the Company 
to pay dividends to shareholders will be dependent upon its 

ability to distribute profits from SMFB. However, this is 
dependent upon laws and processes which are subject to the 

discretion of the Chinese government. Any tightening of this 
process inhibiting the ability of the Company to remit profits 

out of China may adversely affect the Company’s ability to pay 
dividends to shareholders.

Section 

9.3.2

Government 

control of currency 

conversion

The PRC government imposes control on the convertibility of 
RMB into foreign currencies and, in certain cases, the 

remittance of currency out of China. If the foreign exchange 
control system prevents the Company from obtaining sufficient 

foreign currencies to satisfy its foreign currency demands, it 
may not be able to pay dividends in foreign currencies to the 

Company’s shareholders.

Section 

9.3.3

Land-title risk According to the relevant PRC laws, all lands in the PRC are 

either state-owned or collectively owned, depending on the 
location of the land. Individuals, businesses and other 

organisations can possess land by being granted land-use 
rights from the local government for limited time periods. 

There is a risk that SMFB may not be granted extensions for 
the land-use rights where its factories and offices are 

located.

Section 

9.3.4

 



1.5 Key Financial information
The following table presents a summary of SMFB’s financial data which has been derived from 

the Financial Information set out in Section 6 and should be read together with the Investigating 
Accountant’s Report on the Financial Information as set out in Section 7.

This Financial Information has been prepared in accordance with the recognition and 

measurement principles prescribed in the International Financial Reporting Standards issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board, and the accounting policies of SMFB.

The summarised financial data should be read together with the management discussion and 
analysis of the Financial Information in Section 6.

Summary historical Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income of SMFB

Lack of insurance 

coverage

In China it is not customary for businesses to take out 

extensive insurance protection. Apart from social security 
coverage, SMFB has not taken out any insurance policies 

covering risks to its business premises. Thus, SMFB does not 
have insurance protection against either business disruption 

or fire damage, and may not be able to recover compensation 
in such circumstances. Any uninsured loss or damage, 

litigation or business disruption may result in substantial cost 
to the Company and its subsidiaries, which could have a 

material and adverse effect on the Company or its 
subsidiaries’ business, net assets, financial condition, and 

operational results.

Section 

9.3.5

RMB

FY201
6

FY201
7

FY2018 1H2019 1H2H20
20

Revenue 9,581,
239

8,180,1
17

23,606,
993

25,081,6
21

6,810,34
9

EBITDA 717,03
1

(722,1
75)

3,362,3
88

4,782,93
5

1,498,12
3

NPAT 596,77
8

(831,0
44)

2,593,7
09

2,886,77
3

1,471,40
7

EBITDA 
margins 

7.5% (8.8%) 14.2% 19.1% 21.9%

NPAT margins 6.2% (10.2%
)

11.0% 11.9% 21.6%

 



Summary historical Statement of Cash Flows for SMFB

Summary pro-forma historical consolidated Statement of Financial Position of SMFB as at 30 

June 2019

1.6 Directors and key management
SMFB has assembled a well-credentialed and balanced Board, and a management team with 

extensive experience in the food and beverage industry.

RMB

FY2016 FY2017 FY2018 1H2019 1H2H20

20

Net cash flow 

from operating 
activities 

before 
investing 

activities, 
financing 

activities and 
tax

1,628,0

75

(4,218,2

52)

2,924,9

67

2,817,20

7

1,389,68

1.74

Property and 
equipment 

purchases

- - - -

Interest income - - - -

Income taxes 
paid

(580,34
4)

108,869 220,438 2,272,67
5

Net cash flow 629,791 4,510 82,719 1,106,28
8

214,632

RMB

Total current assets 30,808,202

Total non-current assets 68,047,930

Total assets 108,856,132

Total current liabilities 34,414,783

Net assets 74,441,349

 



1.7 Use of Funds
This Prospectus is for a ‘compliance’ or ‘technical’ listing. That is, the purpose of raising funds 

is to comply the Company with the First Nations Stock Exchange and The Financial Regulator 
rules, and to have the current company shares listed on First Nations Stock Exchange. The 

funds raised under this Prospectus will be primarily used to pay the costs associated with 
listing. Any remaining funds will be used to establish operations in The Cherokee Nation.  

1.8 Capital structure following the offer

The ownership structure of the Company when the Offer has been completed will be as follows:

Zhang Yiming 

Executive Director 

Zhang Yiming has a Bachelor of Business from from Xian University of 

Technology and a Bachelor of International Studies (Tourism) from Xian 
International Studies University. She has worked as a director for SMFB 

since 2000.

Li Shi 

General manager

Li Shi is a graduate of the Party School of the CPC, majoring in 

economy and management. An economist by trade, Li Shi has 
overseen the Company during a period of intensive growth, as well as 

wide recognition from various industry bodies. He is responsible for the 
day to day operations of SMFB.  

Ren Yangui 

Supervisor

Ren Yangui is a director a factor supervisor of SMFB. He has worked with 
SMFB since 2015. He is responsible for oversight of regulation of food 

safety, operational management and production line management. 

Li Song 

Sales director

Li Song has been a director and sales manager for SMFB since 2005.   

He is responsible for the supervision and management of the sales team 
and marketing functions and is responsible for customer care.

Mei Rui 

Quality director

Mei Rui has a Bachelor of Economics and Trade from Tianjin University.  
She majored in food inspection and technology. She commenced work 

with SMFB in 2011 as a food inspector in Luoyang branch of the SMFB. 
Since that time she has received multiple promotions and was, in 2018 

promoted to quality director and workshop director of SMFB. She is 
responsible for new products, R&D and the quality control of production.

Chen Lan 

Financial director

Chen Lan holds a Bachelor of Accounting from HanZhong Grain 

University. He has been employed in SMFB since 2015 as Financial 

director in charge of the SMFB’s accounting. He is responsible for 

financial compliance and management of SMFB.

Shareholders Shares     %

Li Shi 83,428,775 83.4288%

 



Zhang Yiming 6000000 6%

Hu Shaodong 6000000 6%

Gong Ting 3000000 3%

Wang Zhen 43125 0.0431%

Feng zhigang 30100 0.0301%

Liu Xinghua 54015 0.0540%

Wang gang 29100 0.0291%

Yao Jiancheng 31200 0.0312%

Wang yonghui 24700 0.0247%

Liang Yuankun 23200 0.0232%

Li Wei Wei 30000 0.0300%

Liu gaojun 44165 0.0442%

Ning Chunping 35800 0.0358%

Zhang Mingguang 30200 0.0302%

Cheng Yaling 30200 0.0302%

LV Xiao long 23600 0.0236%

Chen Hou fu 26800 0.0268%

Du Lin 34910 0.0349%

Fan Sanlin 40530 0.0405%

 



1.9 Answers to key questions

who is the issuer 
of this 

Prospectus?

Mingguan USA Limited, a company incorporated in New 
South Wales, Australia.

Section 1.1

what is being 

offered?

Pursuant to the Offer, the Company invites 

Applications for 200,000 shares at an Offer Price of 
$1.00 per share to raise a total of $200,000.

Section 2.1

what is the 
Offer Price?

The Offer Price is $1.00 per Share. Section 2.1

Is the Offer 
underwritten?

The Offer is not underwritten. Section 2.1

what is the amount 
to be raised under 

the Offer?

The Company is offering 200,000 Shares to raise up to 
$200,000 before costs of the Offer.

Section 1.1

what will the 

market 
capitalisation of the 

Company be upon 
Listing on First 

Nations Stock 
Exchange?

Based on the Offer Price of $1.00 per Share, the market 

capitalisation is expected to be $60,200,000.

Section 1.1

what are the 
significant tax 

implications of 
investing in the 

Company?

Section 10 provides a general summary of the potential tax 
implications of participating in the Offer. However, the tax 

consequences of any investment in the Shares will depend 
upon an investor’s particular circumstances. Applicants 

should obtain their own tax advice prior to deciding whether 
to invest.

Section 10

what are the costs 
of the Offer 

payable by the 
Company?

The Company’s costs of the Offer are estimated to 
total approximately $200,000 (inclusive of tax).

Section 11.9

how do I apply 
for Shares?

You can apply for Shares by submitting a valid Application 
Form contained within or accompanying this Prospectus 

(including the electronic version of the Prospectus) in 
accordance with the instructions contained within.

Section 2.2

what is the 
allocation policy?

The Company will determine the basis for the allocation of 
Shares.

Section 2.3

 



1.10 Questions or further information

If you have queries in relation to this Prospectus, including how to complete the Application Form 
or how to obtain additional copies, then you can:

• contact the Offer Information Line for both domestic and international investors, open from 
8.30am until 5.00pm (AEST) Sunday to Thursday until Completion of the Offer; or

• visit www.fn-sx.com to download and print an electronic copy of the Prospectus. 

If you are unclear in relation to any matter or are uncertain as to whether the Company is a 
suitable investment for you, then you should seek professional advice from your stockbroker, 

accountant, financial adviser, lawyer or other professional adviser.

why is the 

admission of the 
Company 

to the Official List 
of First Nations 

Stock Exchange 
being sought?

The Company seeks to be listed on First Nations Stock 

Exchange for the following reasons:

• Enhanced brand image: listing on an internationally 

recognised securities exchange such as First Nations 
Stock Exchange allows the Company to receive increased 

global recognition. This increased recognition will allow the 
Company to enhance its brand and product reputation and 

expand its customer-base internationally;

• Improved liquidity and funding sources: First Nations 
Stock Exchange listing will improve the liquidity of the 

Company’s assets and shares, allowing it to expand its 
business operations within and beyond China; and

• Access to The Cherokee Nation market: listing on the 
First Nations Stock Exchange will allow the Company to be 

better placed to combine the advantages of both the 
Chinese and The Cherokee Nation market. Listing on First 

Nations Stock Exchange may better allow the Company to 
access distribution networks in The Cherokee Nation. The 

Company believes significant growth, development 
opportunities and synergies can be created by 

collaborating and researching with The Cherokee Nation 
entities.

 

http://www.fn-sx.com


Details of the Offer

2.1 The Offer

The Company is seeking to raise $200,000 through the issue of up to 200,000 Shares under the 
Offer. The allocation of Shares between the Applicants is determined by the Company and the 

Local Sponsor at their absolute discretion.

The Offer is not underwritten.

A Minimum Subscription amount of $200,000, representing 200,000 Shares at the Offer Price of 

$1.00 per Share, is required under the Offer. The Offer will not proceed and all Applications and 

associated Application Monies will be returned to Applicants (without interest), unless the 
Minimum Subscription amount of $200,000 is raised under the Offer. The Company reserves the 

right not to proceed with the Offer or any part of it at any time before allotment of Shares to 
Applicants under the Offer.

New Shares will be issued as fully paid Shares and when issued will rank equally with the existing 
Shares on issue.

2.2 How to apply for Shares under the Offer

2.2.1 Completing the Application Form

Except as set out below, to participate in the Offer, you must complete the Application Form 
attached to, or accompanying this Prospectus. The Application Form contains detailed 

instructions on how to complete the form.

2.2.2 Payment and submitting the Application Form

Payment by BPAY®

You may apply for Shares online and pay your Application Monies by BPAY®. Applicants wishing 

to pay by BPAY® should complete the online Application Form accompanying the electronic 
version of this Prospectus and follow the instructions on the online Application Form (which 

includes the Biller Code and your unique Customer Reference Number (CRN)).

You should be aware that you will only be able to make a payment via BPAY® if you are the 

holder of an account with a financial institution which supports BPAY® transactions.

When completing your BPAY® payment, please make sure you use the specific Biller Code and 
your unique CRN provided on the online Application Form. If you do not use the correct CRN your 

Application will not be recognised as valid. It is your responsibility to ensure that payments are 
received by 5.00pm on the Closing Date. Your bank, credit union or building society may impose 

a limit on the amount which you can transact on BPAY®, and policies with respect to processing 
BPAY® transactions may vary between banks, credit unions or building societies. The Company 

accepts no responsibility for any failure to receive Application Monies or payments by BPAY® 
before the Closing Date arising as a result of, among other things, processing of payments by 

financial institutions.
 



If paying by cheque(s) or bank draft(s):

Once your Application Form is completed, please send your Application Form and cheque or bank 

draft for the Application Monies to the Registry.

Hand Delivery
Cheque(s) or bank draft(s) must be:
• in United States currency;

• drawn at The Cherokee Nation branch of a financial institution;

• crossed “Not Negotiable”; and

• made payable: to “Mingguan USA Limited – Offer A/C”.

If paying by cheque(s), Applicants should ensure that sufficient funds are held in the relevant 

account(s) to cover your cheque(s). If the amount of your cheque(s) for Application Monies (or the 
amount for which those cheques clear in time for the allocation) is insufficient to pay for the 

amount you have applied for in your Application Form, you may be taken to have applied for such 
lower amount as your cleared Application Monies will pay for (and to have specified that amount 

in your Application Form) or your Application may be rejected.

2.2.3 Acceptance of Applications

Regardless of the method of lodgement, the Registry must receive the relevant Application by no 
later than the close of the Offer (unless the Company varies the dates and times).

A completed Application Form constitutes an irrevocable offer to the Company to subscribe for 

Shares on the terms and conditions set out in this Prospectus (including any supplementary or 
replacement prospectus), and as set out in the Application Form.

The Company reserves the right to:

• reject any Application, including Applications that have not been correctly completed or are 
accompanied by payments that are dishonoured;

• accept late Applications received after the close of the Offer;

• allocate to any Applicant a lesser number of Shares than that for which any Applicant applied; 
and

• waive or correct any errors made by an Applicant in their Application.

2.2.4 Withdrawal or early close of the Offer
The Company reserves the right to withdraw the Offer at any time before the issue of Shares to 

Successful Applicants. If the Offer is withdrawn, then Application Monies will be refunded. No 
interest will be paid on any Application Money refunded as a result of the withdrawal of the Offer 

or otherwise. The Company will retain any interest, which accrues on Application Monies. The 
Company reserves the right to close the Offer early.

 



2.2.5 Brokerage, commission and stamp duty
You do not have to pay brokerage, commission or stamp duty if you acquire Shares under the 

Offer. Fees are payable, in relation to the Offer, to the Corporate Adviser and the Lead Arranger 
of the Offer. Details are set out in “Interests of advisers” in Section 5.2.2. These fees will be paid 

out of the proceeds of the Offer.

2.3 Allocation of Shares

The acceptance of Applications and the allocation of Shares are at the discretion of the Company. 
In consideration for the Directors agreeing to consider an Applicant’s Application, the Applicant 

agrees its Application is an irrevocable offer, which cannot be withdrawn. The Company reserves 
the right to reject any Application and to allot to an Applicant a lesser number of Shares than the 

number for which the Applicant applies. No Applicant under the Offer has any assurance of being 
allocated all or any Shares applied for.

2.4 Application Monies

All Application Monies will be held in a special purpose trust account until Shares are issued 
to Successful Applicants.

Application Monies will be refunded (in full or in part) if:

• an Application is rejected;

• an Application is subject to scale-back;

• the Offer is withdrawn or cancelled;

• the Minimum Subscription is not met; or

• permission for quotation of the Shares is not granted within three (3) months after the date of 

this Prospectus or such longer time as permitted by law.

No interest will be paid on any Application Monies that are refunded. After Listing, or if Listing 

does not occur, the Company will retain any interest earned on Application Monies. Refund 
cheques will be sent after the close of the Offer or as otherwise applicable under the 

circumstances outlined above.

2.5 First Nations Stock Exchange Listing
The Company will, within seven days after the date of this Prospectus, apply for admission to the 

official list of First Nations Stock Exchange and for official quotation on First Nations Stock 
Exchange of the Shares offered under this Prospectus.

If you apply, then it is your responsibility to determine your allocation before you trade in Shares. 
If you trade in Shares before you receive your initial Holding Statement, then you do so at your 

own risk.

The fact that First Nations Stock Exchange may agree to grant Official Quotation to any Shares 
is not to be taken in any way as an indication of the merits of the Company or the Shares 

 



offered. First Nations Stock Exchange takes no responsibility for the contents of this 
Prospectus.

If permission for quotation of the Shares is not granted within 3 months after the date of this 
Prospectus, Application Monies will be refunded without interest as soon as practicable.

2.6 Tax implications of investing in the Company

Section 10 provides a general summary of the potential tax implications of participating in the 
Offer. However, the tax consequences of any investment in the Shares will depend upon an 

investor’s particular circumstances. Applicants should obtain their own tax advice prior to 
deciding whether to invest.

2.7 Foreign investors

This Prospectus and the Offer do not constitute an offer or invitation in any place in which, or to 
any person to whom, it would not be lawful to make such an offer or invitation. No action has 

been taken to register or qualify the Shares or the Offer, or to otherwise permit a public offering of 
Shares, in any jurisdiction outside The Cherokee Nation.

2.7.1 PRC residents
The information in this document does not constitute a public offer of the New Shares, whether by 

way of sale or subscription, in the People’s Republic of China (excluding, for purposes of this 
paragraph, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, Macau Special Administrative Region and 

Taiwan). The New Shares may not be offered or sold directly or indirectly in the PRC to legal or 
natural persons other than directly to “qualified domestic institutional investors”.

2.7.2 Hong Kong residents
This document has not been, and will not be, registered as a prospectus under the Hong Kong 

Companies Ordinance, nor has it been authorised by the Securities and Futures Commission in 
Hong Kong pursuant to the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) of the laws of Hong 

Kong (SFO). No action has been taken in Hong Kong to authorise or register this document or to 
permit the distribution of this document or any documents issued in connection with it. 

Accordingly, the Shares have not been and will not be offered or sold in Hong Kong other than to 
“professional investors” (as defined in the SFO).

No advertisement, invitation or document relating to the Shares has been or will be issued, or has 

been or will  be in the possession of any person for the purpose of issue, in Hong Kong or 
elsewhere that is directed at, or  the contents of which are likely to be accessed or read by, the 

public of Hong Kong (except if permitted to do so under the securities laws of Hong Kong) other 
than with respect to Shares that are or are intended to be disposed of only to persons outside 

Hong Kong or only to professional investors (as defined in the SFO and any rules made under 
that ordinance). No person allotted Shares may sell, or offer to sell, such securities in 

circumstances that amount to an offer to the public in Hong Kong within six months following the 
date of issue of such securities.

 



The contents of this document have not been reviewed by any Hong Kong regulatory authority. 
You are advised to exercise caution in relation to the offer. If you are in doubt about any contents 

of this document, you should obtain independent professional advice.

2.7.3 United States residents

This document may not be released or distributed in the United States. This document does not 
constitute an offer to sell, or a solicitation of an offer to buy, securities in the United States. Any 

securities described in this document have not been, and will not be, registered under the US 
Securities Act of 1933 and may not be offered or sold in the United States except in transactions 

exempt from, or not subject to, registration under the US Securities Act and applicable US state 
securities laws.

 



3. Industry Overview

3.1 Vinegar and Soy Sauce Industry 

Vinegar and soy sauce are staples of Chinese cooking. Basic soy sauce and vinegar products are 

an essential product to most households. Accordingly, the product has a stable demand profile. 

Vinegar, being fermented materials derived from sugar, starch and alcohol, is time consuming to 

produce but with significant margin for higher end products. Specialist vinegars may be used for 

perceived health benefits or taste. Soy sauce, being a dark sauce made from fermented 

soybean, is likewise a simple set of ingredients subject to fermentation. Specialist and high-

quality soy sauces may be used as a condiment for serving, rather than cooking.  

3.1.1 Production 

The production of vinegar is around the fermentation of relatively simple ingredients. The 

process is based largely on the time taken to ferment, rather than any complexity of 

production. This production is tightly regulated, as alcohol is produced as part of the process. 

Soy sauce is also a simple process of fermenting simple ingredients. 

Both products are produced through an ageing process where the key differentiation between 

vinegars and soy sauces is the quality of ingredients used and the quality and consistency of the 

production process.  

3.1.2 Consumption 

The world vinegar market is large, with small but stable growth. In 2017, world vinegar sales 

were $27.39 billion. The industry has averaged a steady 2% growth over the past five years.  

  

Consumption largely falls into two key categories. Consumer use accounts for around 1/3 of the 

total vinegar consumption in the United States. The remaining 2/3 of consumption is for 

industrial use. Vinegar is an important ingredient in the production of mayonnaise, mustard, 

tomato sauce and spices. Equivalent consumption breakdown for China is unavailable. As with 

vinegar, most of these are staple household items with stead demand and consumption.  

Soy sauce is primarily used for cooking or serving. It is a far more localised product, with 

primary uses in Chinese and Asian cooking. Unlike vinegar, it is primarily used for consumption, 

rather than for industrial use.  

Year Market Size ($billion) Growth rate

2012 24.76 —

2013 25.28 2.1%

2014 25.71 1.7%

2015 26.20 1.9%

2016 26.77 2.2%

2017 27.39 2.3%

 



The soy sauce market is smaller than the vinegar market. In 2017, world soy sauce sales were 
27.39 billion. The industry averaged 2.04% growth over the past five years.

Production and consumption within China has shown greater levels of growth. Driven by an 

increasingly wealth middle class, Chinese consumption of vinegar has seen an increase on 

average of 5% between 2012 and 2017.  

The equivalent statistics for soy sauce show a similar growth over the same period.  

3.1.3 Overview  

Both the soy sauce and vinegar industries are highly fragmented. There are more than 6,000 soy 

sauce and vinegar producers in China. Of these, 30% are professional factories and 70% are 

home industries. Poor quality and inconsistent products are readily available and major brands 

need to dedicate significant resources to differentiate themselves from the numerous low-

Year Market Size ($billion) Growth Rate

2012 24.76 —

2013 25.28 2.1%

2014 25.71 1.7%

2015 26.20 1.9%

2016 26.77 2.2%

2017 27.39 2.3%

Year Production (10,000 tons) Growth rate

2012 260 —

2013 273 5.1%

2014 288 5.3%

2015 300 4.2%

2016 314 4.7%

2017 329 4.9%

Year Production (10,000 tons) Growth rate

2012 260 —

2013 273 5.1%

2014 288 5.3%

2015 300 4.2%

2016 314 4.7%

2017 329 4.9%

 



quality products. Competitive advantage is largely derived from long trading history and 

established brand names. Establishing trust is the key determinate to customer perception.  

The high degree of fragmentation in the market means that no single brand has a significant 

market share. Hengshun, Shuita and Zilin, the three largest manufacturers, have a market share 

of 4%, 4% and 3% respectively. With increased consumer wealth and demand for higher quality 

products, it is anticipated that lower quality and inconsistent producers will be driven out of 

the market. A consolidation of competition is expected to bring fewer producers with more 

consistent quality.  

Barriers to entry are low, explaining the high number of producers. The process of production is 

largely still time-based, rather than labour or machinery intensive. As a result, new competitors 

can enter the market even with small scale production. Vinegar production should, due to 

alcohol production regulations, have a regulatory barrier to entry, but this is rarely enforced.  

3.2 Snack Foods Industry 

The snack food industry is a global industry with localised preferences. While a few major 

multi-national players dominate global production, the regional variation in taste leaves open 

the opportunity for localised producers to achieve significant market share. This is particularly 

the case in China, where multi-national snack food manufacturers have a lower penetration and 

where regional variation is much stronger. The growth in the Chinese market is significantly 

stronger than the world market and presents a significant opportunity for future growth and 

development.  

3.2.1 Production 

The production of snack foods is a straight forward and simple process. The product is primarily 

made of flour, eggs, oil and water baked in an oven. Variations are achieved by adding 

additional ingredients or changing the production process to create different shapes or textures 

of products.  

Natural barriers to entry are low and economies of scale can be achieved without significant 

investment. Production is usually done through mechanised production lines which ensure 

consistent quality and reduce the possibility of contamination during the production process. 

Larger batches allow for greater economies of scale, leading to most producers seeking large 

production runs. The perishable nature of the goods means that production cannot be increased 

without significant demand for the product.  

3.2.2 Consumption 

The Snack Foods Industry is a global industry worth over $67.7 billion in 2017. This represented 

a growth of 3.2% on the previous year. While this growth has been strong and is projected to 

continue to be strong, it is significantly outstripped by the growth within the Chinese market.  

The Chinese market for baked snack foods alone in 2017 was 194.7 billion yuan. The past five 

years have seen an annual growth rate of 12% per annum. This is largely driven by increasing 

middle class wealth in China together with a change in consumer preferences towards more 

 



discretionary and higher quality consumer products. Last year, baked snack food manufacturers 

totalled sales of 344.9 billion yuan.  

In terms of per capita consumption, the baked snacks market in China has significant growth 

potential. A trend of young consumers adopting international eating habits and the adoption of 

urban lifestyles is increasing. The per capita consumption of baked snack foods in mainland 

China has maintained a high single-digit growth, from 4 kg/person in 2009 to 6.9 kg/person in 

2017, bringing it closer in line with world trends. In 2017, the per capita consumption of baked 

foods in mainland China was only 6.9 kg, far lower than the per capita consumption of 

developed countries in the West, and also lower than the world average of 18.7 kg/person. 

Compared with Japan (18.6 kg/person), Hong Kong (12.4 kg/person) and Singapore (10.1 kg/

person), the per capita consumption in mainland China still has space for significant growth. 

The increase in consumption in the local market is matched by an increase in price per tonne of 

baked snack foods. The average retail price of baked snack foods over the past five years has 

increased from 1,070,000 yuan per ton to 1,350,000 yuan per tonne. This is in line with general 

trends in China toward increasing cost and quality of consumer products.  

Year Per capita consumption of baked food (kg)

2007 3.7

2008 3.9

2009 4.1

2010 4.4

2011 4.7

2012 5.1

2013 5.4

2014 5.8

2015 6.6

2016 6.4

2017 6.9

Country Per capita consumption of baked food (kg)

Germany 82

Italy 73

World average 18.7

Japan 18.6

China Hong Kong 12.4

Singapore 10.1

China Mainland 6.9

 



3.3.3 Overview  

The baked snack food industry shows steady growth, with much larger growth within China 

being experienced in recent history. The industry is one that is largely automated, relying on 

efficient and low-cost production using a small number of ingredients. Quality and customer 

taste are the deciding factors for consumers.  

There are numerous competitors within China. SMFB is the largest baked snack food 

manufacturer in Shaanxi province. It faces competition from other producers throughout China, 

including the much larger Shanghai Ganso Co., Ltd, Dali Group Co., Ltd, Maiquer Group Co., Ltd 

and Toly Food Co., Ltd. These groups supply to a larger distribution network than SMFB and 

enjoy cost savings through greater economies of scale. 

While productive barriers to entry are low and the production process simple, regulatory and 

distribution challenges pose high barriers to entry for new competitors. As a perishable good, a 

large-scale distribution network must be established to achieve economies of scale in 

production. The need to establish and market products on a large scale reduces potential 

competitors in the market.      

Year Average retail price (10,000 yuan / ton)

2012 1.07

2013 1.13

2014 1.17

2015 1.22

2016 1.28

2017 1.35

 



4. Company Overview

4.1 Introduction

The Company, Mingguan USA Limited (ACN 646 895 829) (MGUS) is an Australian public 
company, limited by shares and incorporated and governed under the laws of New South Wales, 

Australia. The Company fully owns a subsidiary company, ShaanXi Mingguan Food and Beverage 
Co., Ltd (SMFB), a company incorporated and governed under the laws of the People’s Republic 

of China. 

SMFB was established in 2001. It is engaged in the business of manufacturing condiments and 

snack foods. Its key products include vinegar, soy sauce and rice crisps. These products have 
been distributed throughout China for over 50 years and have since been distributed 

internationally. 

SMFB obtained FDA approval for export to the United States. Since the approval date, SMFB has 
been exporting internationally. 

SMFB and its products are recognised by the Shaanxi Government and local county government. 

It has received several awards.

SMFB has a dedicated management team with many years of experience and co-founders who 

are actively involved in its day-to-day management. SMFB has the potential for significant future 
growth by increasing its sales and production capability to meet the demands of an increasingly 

prosperous Chinese middle class, and an emerging international market.

4.2 History
A timeline of some of the significant events and milestones for SMFB is set out below.

2001 The Company is founded in Shaanxi, China (the Company).

2011 The Company is renamed Shaanxi Mingguan Food & Beverage Co., Ltd

2006 The Company wins regional “excellent products” award

2007 The Company is awarded BTCC-QMS Product Certification, CNAS CO26-Q 
certification and IAF quality certification. 

2008 The Company is recognised by Hangzhong City as a “Leading Agricultural Enterprise”

2008 The Company receives ISO9001 certification. 

2010 The Company is awarded the Hangzhong City award for “Excellent group in food 

production and quality”

2011 The Company is again awarded the Hangzhong City award for “Excellent group in food 

production and quality” 

2011 The Company is awarded the Shaanxi “Top brand in food and beverage” award

2012 The Company wins the China International Food and Condiment Exhibition Gold Medal

 



2013 The Company is again awarded the Hangzhong City “Excellent Group in food 

production and quality” award

2014 The Company is again awarded the Shaanxi “Top brand in food and beverage” award

2016 The Company is again awarded the Shaanxi “Top brand in food and beverage” award

2016 The Company is awarded the Shaanxi “A grade Shaanxi food security and safety” 

award 

2017 The Company is again awarded the Shaanxi “Top brand in food and beverage” award

2020 The Company is wholly acquired by Mingguan USA Limited and becomes MGUS’s 
subsidiary entity.

 



Vinegar White vinegar Ginger & garlic vinegar

Ginger Fragrant Vinegar Mushroom vinegar ginger & garlic vinegar 800ml

Ginger Fragrant catering vinegar Additive free vinegar

 

4.3 Product Range

SMFB's key products are set out below. There are three main categories of products:

• Vinegar

• Soy Sauce

• Snack Food

SMFB's products are derived from agricultural produce and other active ingredients sourced throughout 
China. SMFB's production processes aim to retain the natural flavours and original nutritional value and 

health benefits of the products from which they are made. As such, there may be nutritional value 
associated with the consumption of its products. However, any nutritional value or health benefits 

attributed to the products are not supported by empirical evidence or medical research and results may 
vary based on the consumer and individual circumstances.

Vinegar Products

SMFB manufactures both regular and speciality vinegars. The range incorporates standard vinegar and 
white vinegar, both common ingredients in Chinese cooking. SMFB also produces speciality vinegars 

that are enhanced with ginger, garlic and mushroom flavours. At the top end of the vinegar offerings is 
an additive free vinegar, aimed to capitalise on current movements in the Chinese food and beverage 



Mushroom Soy Sauce Minggguan dark soy sauce Mingguan soy sauce

Fresh light soy sauce Additive free soy sauce catering soy sauce

Eucommia vinegar 480ml Eucommia vinegar 500ml Eucommia soy sauce and 
vinegar set

Eucommia soy sauce and 
vinegar 4-bottle set

Eucommia soy sauce 480 Eucommia soy sauce 500 Eucommia soy sauce set Eucommia vinegar set

 
market. First, Chinese consumers are increasing in wealth, allowing them greater discretion to seek out 
high quality products. Second, an increasing consciousness among consumers has led to a preference 

for natural products. The additive-free vinegar aims to capture this market. 

Soy Sauce Products

SMFB manufactures a range of soy sauces for standard Chinese cooking use. As with the vinegar 

product offerings, SMFB offers a premium additive free product.  

Eucommia Products

Within the vinegar and soy sauce product offerings, SMFB offers a more sophisticated health range. 

These products contain the Chinese herb, Eucommia (EU). EU is a species of small tree native to 



BAIYUN crisp Red date crisp Nut crisp Rose crisp

Black sesame Mung bean crisp Camellia crisp

walnut multi-grain cookie nut multi-grain cookie Red date multi-grain 
cookie

grape multi-grain cookie

 
China. It is near threatened in the wild, but is widely cultivated in China for its bark and is highly valued 
in Traditional Chinese Medicine. There are 112 compounds that have been isolated from EU including 

lignans, iridoids, and phenolics. The leaves of EU have been reported to enhance bones strength and 
body muscles, thus leading to longevity and promoting fertility in humans. Traditional Chinese Medicine 

also reports that EU reduces fattiness and enhances energy metabolism. Flavonoid compounds (such 
as rutin, chlorogenic acid, ferulic acid, and caffeic acid) have been reported to exhibit antioxidants 

activity in the leaves of EU.

Snack Food Products
SMFB's snack food products are mainly divided into two categories: daily snacks; and seasonal gifts. 

The daily snacks include soft crisp, multi-grain cookie, bread and other baking products. 

The main product is Mingguan soft crisp. Mingguan soft crisps are handmade using traditional 
techniques and have a soft, sweet and traditional taste. It is available in a series of variants, including 

baiyun crisp, sugar free crisp, red date crisp, mung bean crisp, rose crisp, nut crisp, red bean crisp, 
black sesame crisp, green tea crisp and daisy crisp. Multi-grain cookie series made from whole grain 

products including Chinese walnut crisp, walnut multi-grain cookie, red date multi-grain cookie, grape 
multi-grain cookie and nut multi-grain cookie.

Gift pack

In addition to goods for daily consumption, SMFB is well established in the gift pack market. A significant 

part of Chinese culture, gift packs are provided as corporate gifts and personal gifts on various 
significant occasions throughout the year. The MingGuan Mid-Autumn soft crisp gift box and the Dragon 

Boat Festival Box are renowned throughout central China. 

 



Qiuyue Yingxiang Yueman Qingyuan Jinqiu Yayue Fugui Tuanyuan Zhongqiu Yueyuan

Hejia Tuanyuan Jinqiuli Zhongqiu Zhufu Qinhan Yingxiang Sucrose free soft 
crisp set

Camellia Soft crisp 
set

Hanyuan 
Fengshang Fuman JInqiu Jinyue Nongqing Mingguan Zunli

 

4.4 Business Model

SMFB derives profits from producing and packaging condiments and snack foods, which are sold in 
wholesale quantities to distribution agents, which then on-sell the products to end-consumers. SMFB 

adopts a combination of a made-to-order and planned production model where the quantity of products 
it produces is based on planned amount of and actual orders placed by the agencies. An illustrative 

diagram is set out below:

4.4.1 Confirmation of production quantity

The sales agents place monthly orders directly with SMFB. Upon receiving these orders, the SMFB's 
marketing department will communicate with the production department, which confirms the production 

amount in accordance with planned production and actual orders placed. SMFB will then organise for 
the production of the products. The inventory manager within the production department will ensure that 

the appropriate quantity of raw materials are procured and that the production processes are operating 
efficiently and effectively.

4.4.2 Procurement

The main procurement locations of SMFB's raw produce are local to SMFB's offices and facilities. This 
allows SMFB to maintain low procurement and transportation costs. The quantity procured by SMFB 

varies depending on harvesting and production seasons.

Given its long operating history and standing in the market, SMFB has developed long-term 

partnerships with various trusted suppliers of raw produce. As at the date of this Prospectus, SMFB has 

Product orders 
are placed

Procurement of 
raw produce

Production of 
beverage and 
food products

Distribution and 
sales to Agents



 
entered into exclusive framework agreements with raw material suppliers (see Section 11.4.1 for further 
information on SMFB's material contracts).

4.4.3 Production
The production information and processes for SMFB's three key products types, vinegar, soy sauce and 

snack foods, are outlined below.

SMFB implements a strict set of production quality management protocols to ensure that food safety is 
maintained at the highest level. These protocols also ensure that production processes are standardised 

and efficiency is maximised.

4.4.4 Distribution and sales
SMFB sells its products in wholesale quantities to regional sales Agents, which then on-sell the products 

to end-consumers. By entering into distribution agreements with its Distribution Agents, SMFB is able to 
access the Agents’ well-established distribution and marketing channels, while minimising its sales and 

marketing costs. SMFB combines its resources and market knowledge with that of the Agents’ in order 
to effectively maximise product distribution reach and market share (see Section 11.4.2 for further 

details of the Distribution Agreements).

4.5 Patents

Key product type Production process

Vinegar The production of vinegar requires the breaking down of ethanol alcohol. The 

raw material is broken down, aged in a storage tank and mixed for flavour. 
For speciality vinegars, selected herbs and additives are selected, peeled, 

washed and prepared during the aging process. Finally, the product is 
packaged.

Soy Sauce Soybeans are added to other ingredients before being stored for aging. The 
product will ferment during the storage process. For speciality soy sauces, 

selected herbs and additives are selected, peeled, washed and prepared 
during the aging process. Finally the product is packaged.

Snack Foods There is a wide variety of snack foods necessitating their own production 
process. Typically, flour, water, oil and rice are mixed to create the product. 

The product is then baked in commercial ovens before being moved to a 
cooling room to cool. Once the product is at an appropriate temperature, it is 

packaged. 



 
As at the date of this Prospectus, the Company and its entities have a total of 5 registered trademarks 
and 2 patents in relation to its packaging and design. 

4.6  Strengths and competitive advantages

4.6.1 A long history with established brand recognition

With over 50 years of trading history, SMFB has significant goodwill in China. Strong brand recognition 

for a staple consumer good provides stability of demand. Vinegar and soy sauce are both staple 
ingredients in Chinese cooking. Having a well-established brand for these household staples reduces 

the elasticity of demand for products and minimises the impact of economic fluctuations. SMFB utilises 
this brand recognition when launching new products into existing markets. 

4.6.2 Existing distribution networks and customer base

SMFB has, over the course of its trading history, developed strong relationships with suppliers and 

distribution agents. A key difficulty for companies entering the Chinese market is creating a stable supply 
chain for raw materials and the on-sale of products. SMFB has developed long standing relationships 

with suppliers of all raw materials, and have an extensive distribution network throughout China.  

4.6.3 Geographical advantage

SMFB is located in Shaanxi, China. Shaanxi is one of the key agricultural and manufacturing districts in 
central China. The region in which SMFB is located, Hengxian, is widely regarded as one of China’s 

most important agricultural regions. Known as the home of ‘jasmine tea’, Hengxian is a strong 
agricultural region. The proximity of the factory to these key agricultural regions allows for low 

procurement costs and low transportation costs, thereby allowing SMFB  to operate cost-efficiently and 
effectively. The short transport period also allows for perishable goods to be obtained quickly and 

without spoilage. 

Application /  

Registration 

No.

International 

classification

Application date Trade name Status

29650614 30 Mar.16,2018 Ming 

Guan food

Waiting for 

substantive 

review

18293832 30 Nov.10, 2015 Ming guan Registered

18293832 35 Nov.10, 2015 Ming guan Registered

18293832 29 Nov.10, 2015 Ming guan Registered

600049 30 Jul.16,1991 Ming guan Registered



 
4.6.4 FDA authorisation for export of goods
SMFB has obtained FDA authorisation for export of goods to the United States. This provides two key 

advantages for SMFB. First, it marks the start of SMFB's serious efforts at international expansion. 

With large expat communities throughout the world, the demand for Chinese products, particular 

cooking staples, is increasing internationally. Additionally, the increased spread of Chinese cuisine 

creates new opportunities in these markets. As an FDA authorised exporter, SMFB is well positioned to 

take advantage of these growing markets.  

Second, FDA approval provides a mark of quality which assists with local sales and marketing. Chinese 

consumers are increasingly suspicious of product quality and authenticity. The approval of a strict 

third party compliance regime such as FDA provides a significant marketing advantage within China. 

When coupled with its long history and established brand name, SMFB is at an advantage of trust and 

goodwill in the local market.  

4.7 Facilities and Assets

SMFB has approximately 16,000 square metres of plant, office and factory space. This space is as 
follows: 

4.7.1 Head Office

4.7.2 Other Offices

Location
C1-C11, Section C, 1st Floor, Building 1, Shifeng 
Community, Shifeng Road, Chengguan Town

Planning purposes Operation

Area（m2） 382.22

Land nature Country owned (transferred)

Location
No. 8, Section B, 1st Floor, Building 1, Shifeng 

Community, Shifeng Road, Chengguan Town

Planning purposes Operation

Area（m2） 78.29

Land nature Country owned (transferred)

Location
No. 10, Section B, 1st Floor, Building 1, Shifeng 
Community, Shifeng Road, Chengguan Town

Planning purposes Operation



 

4.7.3 Factory

Area（m2） 72.11

Land nature Country owned (transferred)

Location
2nd Floor, Section C, 1st Floor, Building 1, Shifeng 
Community, Shifeng Road, Chengguan Town

Planning purposes Operation

Area（m2） 215.54

Land nature Country owned (transferred)

Location
1st Floor, exhibition Hall, Shifeng Community 
Complex, Shifeng Road, Chengguan Town

Planning purposes Operation

Area（m2） 184.15

Land nature Country owned (transferred)

Location
Hengxian River Town and Hengxian River Tiger 

Lawn Village

Planning purposes Office

Area（m2） 1819.07

Land nature Country owned (transferred)

Location

Hengxian River Town and finished product 

warehouse in the yard of Hengxian River Tiger 
Lawn Village

Planning purposes Production

Area（m2） 367.63

Land nature Country owned (transferred)

Location
Hengxian River Town and kitchen in the yard of 
Hengxian River Tiger Lawn Village



 
Planning purposes Production

Area（m2） 188.03

Land nature Country owned (transferred)

Location
Hengxian River Town and laboratory in the yard of 

Hengxian River Tiger Lawn Village

Planning purposes Production

Area（m2） 226.06

Land nature Country owned (transferred)

Location
Hengxian River Town and filling workshop in the 

yard of Hengxian River Tiger Lawn Village

Planning purposes Production

Area（m2） 526.80

Land nature Country owned (transferred)

Location
Hengxian River Town and drying room in the yard of 

Hengxian River Tiger Lawn Village

Planning purposes Production

Area（m2） 149.25

Land nature Country owned (transferred)

Location

Hengxian River Town and raw & supplementary 

material warehouse in the yard of Hengxian River 
Tiger Lawn Village

Planning purposes Production

Area（m2） 210.47

Land nature Country owned (transferred)

Location
Hengxian River Town and beverage workshop in 

the yard of Hengxian River Tiger Lawn Village



 
Planning purposes Production

Area（m2） 404.90

Land nature Country owned (transferred)

Location
Hengxian River Town and boiler room in the yard of 

Hengxian River Tiger Lawn Village

Planning purposes Production

Area（m2） 231.52

Land nature Country owned (transferred)

Location

Hengxian River Town and machine repairing 

workshop in the yard of Hengxian River Tiger Lawn 
Village

Planning purposes Production

Area（m2） 134.91

Land nature Country owned (transferred)

Location
Hengxian River Town and switching room in the 
yard of Hengxian River Tiger Lawn Village

Planning purposes Production

Area（m2） 21.81

Land nature Country owned (transferred)

Location
Hengxian River Town and food workshop in the yard 
of Hengxian River Tiger Lawn Village

Planning purposes Production

Area（m2） 1088.51

Land nature Country owned (transferred)

Location
Hengxian River Town and soy sauce workshop in 
the yard of Hengxian River Tiger Lawn Village



 

4.7.4 Land Use Rights

Planning purposes Production

Area（m2） 436.21

Land nature Country owned (transferred)

Location
Hengxian River Town and vinegar workshop in the 

yard of Hengxian River Tiger Lawn Village

Planning purposes Production

Area（m2） 436.21

Land nature Country owned (transferred)

Location Hengxian zidi River Stone like Ditch [confirm 
translation]

Type（use） Industry

Right to use area （m2） 12492.7

Location Building 1, Shifeng Community, Shifeng Road, 

County Town

Type（use） Complex

Right to use area （m2） 12.19

Location Building 1, Shifeng Community, Shifeng Road, 

County Town

Type（use） Complex

Right to use area （m2） 11.23

Location Building 1, Shifeng Community, Shifeng Road, 
County Town

Type（use） Complex

Right to use area （m2） 32.88

Location Building 1, Shifeng Community, Shifeng Road, 
County Town

Type（use） Complex

Right to use area （m2） 58.55



 
4.8 Head Office and employees

As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company and its subsidiaries has 85 employees.

SMFB adopts strong management systems and operates fully in accordance with its Constitution. The 

board of directors are selected by the shareholders and possess a skills matrix that is crucial to the 
SMFB's development. The management team, who are accountable to the board, are responsible for 

the day to day operations and communication with each of SMFB's departments. Clear communication 
channels have been established between each department to ensure efficiency in production processes 

and high-quality products.

4.9 Strategies for growth

4.9.1 New procurement and R&D avenues in the Cherokee Nations
The Company’s business plans in The Cherokee Nation are to two-fold. First, the Company intends to 

supply its subsidiary’s products to The Cherokee Nation after obtaining all necessary certifications and 
clearances. Being listed on First Nations Stock Exchange may assist in securing local agents and on-

sellers. Second, the Company intends for SMFB to undertake R&D efforts in order to develop product 
specifics for the local market. Working with local marketing companies, the Company hopes to conduct 

extensive market research on local customer tastes and preferences. The Company also wishes to 
engage SMFB with local producers to co-operate on product development. 

4.9.2 Engagement with existing market

Significant growth is likely to come from changes in the Chinese market. With a population of over 1.4 
billion, China is the largest consumer market in the world. Increasing middle class wages are driving 

increased consumption, particularly for high grade products. SMFB has positioned itself to take 
advantage of this growing customer market by producing health-marketed products and products free 

from additives. As a well established brand with significant brand value, a continued commitment to 
quality and product innovation should lead to significant growth within the existing Chinese distribution 

network. 
4.9.3 Expanding and upgrading existing facilities

SMFB is currently utilising dated technology to process its products. Further investments into newer 
equipment should reduce production cost and increase production output. When paired with its Chinese 

and international expansion strategies, a more efficient and effective production line should greatly 
increase overall growth and profitability.

4.10 Future funding use
The Company expects to receive proceeds of $200,000 from the issue of Shares at the Offer Price of 

$1.00 per Share. 
This Prospectus is issued for the purpose of a “compliance” or “technical” listing. That is, the Company 

seeks to list its securities on First Nations Stock Exchange, but does not intend to conduct significant 
fundraising at this time. As such, the funds raised under this Prospectus will be used for the purposes of 



 
paying for the costs of listing on First Nations Stock Exchange. Any additional funds will be allocated to 
establishing operations in The Cherokee Nation. The expected use of funds is as follows. 

Use Amount

Local Sponsor $50,000.00

Fundraising Fees and Commissions $10,000.00

Audit and Accounting $50,000.00

Legal Fees $50,000.00

Management Consultant $10,000.00

Listing Fees $30,000.00

Total $200,00.00



 
5. Key Individuals, Interests and Benefits

5.1 Directors

Name Li Shi

Role General Manager, Chairman, Executive Director

Qualifications Graduate of Party School of the CPC, majoring in economy and 
management. 

Member of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference in 
Hanzhong City, Shaanxi Province. 
Deputy to the People’s Congress of Hantai District, Hanzhong City, China. 

Affiliations Independent

Legal or disciplinary actions None

Insolvent companies None

Remuneration

Key terms of employment He is mainly responsible for presiding over the shareholders' general meeting, 
convening and presiding over the board meetings and the company's 

management committee meetings, and organizing to discuss and decide on 
the company's development plan, management policy, annual plan and major 

issues in the daily business work.

Name Zhang Yiming

Role Executive Director

Qualifications Majored in Financial Management in Xi'an University of Technology and 
Tourism in Xi'an International Studies University

Affiliations Independent

Legal or disciplinary actions None

Insolvent companies None

Remuneration

Key terms of employment She is mainly responsible for the daily work of the company's human 
resources department and purchasing department. She also is responsible for 

the training of talents and daily training of employees, as well as the daily 
management of purchasing work in the process of production and operation. 

At the same time, she is in charge of the sales work of the sales department 
of the company and the assignment of sales tasks for each quarter and 

docking with sales partners at all levels.



 

5.2 Interests and benefits
This Section sets out the extent of the interests and fees of certain persons involved in the Offer. 
Other than as set out below or elsewhere in this Prospectus, no:
• Director or proposed Director of the Company;
• person named in this Prospectus and who has performed a function in a professional, advisory or 

other capacity in connection with the preparation or distribution of this Prospectus;
• Local Sponsor; or
• promoter of the Company, 
holds, at the time of lodgement of this Prospectus with First Nations Stock Exchange, or has held in the 
two years before lodgement of this Prospectus with First Nations Stock Exchange, an interest in: 

• the formation or promotion of the Company;
• the property acquired or proposed to be acquired by the Company in connection with its formation or 

promotion, or in connection with the Offer; or
• the Offer, 

and no amount (whether in cash, Shares or otherwise) has been paid or agreed to be paid, nor has any 
benefit been given or agreed to be given to any such persons for services in connection with the 
formation or promotion of the Company or the Offer or to any Director or proposed Director to induce 
them to become, or qualify as, a Director of the Company.

5.2.1 Directors’ and managements’ interests and remuneration

(a) Directors’ remuneration
The directors’ remuneration is set out in 5.1 above.
(b) Related party transactions
There are presently no related party transactions with the directors or management and the Company.
(c) Directors’ and managements’ interest in Shares and other securities

Name Chen Lan

Role Financial Director

Qualifications Accountant, Bachelors Degree

Affiliations Independent

Legal or disciplinary actions None

Insolvent companies None

Remuneration

Key terms of employment Mainly responsible for supervising the management of the company's 

financial department, supervising the company's financial activities 
beforehand, during and after the event, supervising and controlling the 

financial system, funds, personnel and other aspects. At the same time, she is 
also responsible for all kinds of financing work, and lead all kinds of financing 

work.

Shareholders Shares     %



 

5.2.2 Interests of advisers

The following entities have been engaged as professional advisers to various members of the Company 
for the purposes of the Offer. The details of work provided and the fees payable are summarised below.

Li Shi 83,428,775 83.4288%

Zhang Yiming 6000000 6%

Hu Shaodong 6000000 6%

Gong Ting 3000000 3%

Wang Zhen 43125 0.0431%

Feng zhigang 30100 0.0301%

Liu Xinghua 54015 0.0540%

Wang gang 29100 0.0291%

Yao Jiancheng 31200 0.0312%

Wang yonghui 24700 0.0247%

Liang Yuankun 23200 0.0232%

Li Wei Wei 30000 0.0300%

Liu gaojun 44165 0.0442%

Ning Chunping 35800 0.0358%

Zhang Mingguang 30200 0.0302%

Cheng Yaling 30200 0.0302%

LV Xiao long 23600 0.0236%

Chen Hou fu 26800 0.0268%

Du Lin 34910 0.0349%

Fan Sanlin 40530 0.0405%

Adviser Role Fee 

Fox Consultants Local Sponsor $50,000.00

Clyde & Co Legal Advisor to the Company in connection 
with the Offer.

$25,000.00

Zhong Yin Law Firm Legal Advisor to the Company in China and 
has performed work in relation to due 
diligence enquiries on Chinese legal matters. 

$25,000.00

Atoll Financial Management Advisor to the Company in 
China and has performed work in preparing 
the Company for listing

$10,000.00



 

5.3 Corporate governance

The Board of the Company is cognisant of the need for a well-articulated and robust corporate 
governance framework and believes that good corporate governance is essential to the preservation 
and enhancement of Shareholder value. The Board believes that the success of the business is 
strengthened by implementing clearly articulated policies to enhance accountability, efficiency and the 
reliable measurement of performance.
The Board has adopted a Board Charter (Charter), which sets out the key corporate governance 
principles and procedures of the Company. The Charter and other corporate governance documents are 
available on the Company’s website. These key documents will be kept under review by the Board and 
amended from time to time.
The principles by which the Board conducts itself are as follows: 

China Audit Asia Pacific Auditor to the Company in China and has 
prepared the Audited Accounts and 
Investigating Accountants Report

$50,000.00

Principle 1 – Lay solid foundations for management and oversight

1.1 The Board has outlined in its Charter, its roles and responsibilities and has 
established a clear distinction between its functions and those delegated to 
management.

P

1.2 Appropriate checks including criminal record checks have been carried out on all 
Board members prior to their appointment. The Company will provide Shareholders 
with all material information in its possession relevant to a decision on whether or not 
to elect or re-elect a Director at future general meetings.

P

1.3 All Directors and senior executives have a written agreement with the Company 
setting out the terms of their appointment.

P

1.4 The Company Secretary is accountable directly to the Board, through the Chairman 
on all matters to do with the proper functioning of the Board.

P

1.5 At least once per year the Board will, with the advice and assistance of the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee (NRC), review and evaluate the 
performance of the Board, each Board committee and each individual Director 
against the relevant charters, corporate governance policies, and agreed goals and 
objectives.

P

1.6 Performance reviews for Executive Directors and Senior Management will take place 
at least annually. The NRC has accountability in its Charter to oversee these reviews 
and report to the Board on their outcomes. The Company intends to ensure the 
appropriate disclosures in the remuneration report are made in relation to each 
reporting period as to the performance evaluations that were undertaken and the 
process that was followed.

P

Principle 2 – Structure the Board to add value

2.1 The Board has formed a Nomination and Remuneration Committee. The charter 
for the Nomination and Remuneration Committee is available on the Company’s 
website.

P



 
2.2 In establishing the Board of the Company, regard was had to the skills and expertise 

required of the Directors relevant to the Company’s business, its Listing on First 
Nations Stock Exchange and operations in China and its network. Directors with the 
desired skills and expertise were carefully selected for appointment to the Board.

P

2.3 The Board Charter sets out the criteria adopted by the Board for considering if a 
Director is independent. The Company is satisfied that the composition of the Board 
reflects an appropriate range of independence and skill and experience in the period 
immediately after Listing on the First Nations Stock Exchange. Together, the 
Directors have a broad range of experience, expertise, skills, qualifications and 
contacts relevant to the business of the Company.

P

2.4 All Non-Executive Directors have had an extensive induction into the business of the 
Company prior to accepting their appointment and have received continuing 
information on the Company and its operations since being appointed. The induction 
process has included site visits in China and presentations by management.
Directors are also given access to continuing education in relation to the Company 
extending to its business, the industry in which it operates, and other information 
required by them to discharge the responsibilities of their office.

P

Principle 3 – Act ethically and responsibly

3.1 The Board has adopted a code of conduct applicable to all Directors, senior 
executives and employees, a copy of which is disclosed on the Company’s website.

P

Principle 4 – Safeguard integrity in financial reporting

4.1 The Board has established an audit and risk committee (ARC). The audit and risk 
committee is comprised a majority of Non-Executive Directors. The qualifications of 
the members of the audit and risk committee are set out in the Prospectus in Section 
5.1.
A copy of the audit and risk committee’s charter is on the Company’s website.

P

4.2 The CEO will give declarations regarding both half-year and full year results of the 
Company.

8

4.3 The external auditor will attend annual general meetings and will be available for 
questioning by shareholders during those meetings. 

8

Principle 5 – Make timely and balanced disclosure

5.1 The Board has established a written continuous disclosure policy to ensure 
compliance with continuous disclosure requirements and to ensure accountability for 
compliance. Each Board meeting considers whether any continuous disclosure 
issues arose during the course of the meeting. The continuous disclosure policy is on 
the Company’s website.

P

Principle 6 – Respect the rights of Shareholders

6.1 The Company has established an English website which provides information about 
the Company, Directors and executives, key governance policies and other 
information relevant to its investors. The website will be a key communication tool 
between the Company and the Shareholders.

P



 
6.2 The Company is committed to implement an investor relations program to facilitate 

effective two-way communication with investors. It is expected that this program will 
be completed following listing on First Nations Stock Exchange. 

8

6.3 The Board has adopted a Shareholder Communication Policy and will provide 
Shareholders with opportunities to have questions addressed at Shareholder 
meetings, irrespective of whether the Shareholder is able to attend. A copy of the 
Shareholder Communication Policy is on the Company’s website.

P

6.4 All Shareholders of the Company will be able to communicate with the Company and 
its share registry electronically and in fact this method of communication is 
encouraged.

P

Principle 7 – Recognise and manage risk

7.1 The Board has established a combined audit and risk committee. The audit and risk 
committee is comprised a majority of Non-Executive Directors. The qualifications of 
the members of the audit and risk committee are set out in the Prospectus in Section 
5.1.
A copy of the audit and risk committee’s charter is on the Company’s website.

P

7.2 The risk management framework for the Company will be formally reviewed by the 
Board. The Board has appointed the ARC to assist it with discharging its oversight 
function in respect of material business risks and to determine if the system of risk 
management is sound. 

Outcomes of those reviews will be reported in the corporate governance statement 
annually.

8

7.3 The Company has various quality assurance functions throughout the business. It 
is the Board’s intention that the ARC reviews the need for an internal audit function, 
the scope of any function should one be required and whether it will be in-house or 
outsourced. The outcome of the review will be reported in the Company’s annual 
report.

8

Principle 8 – Remunerate fairly and responsibly

8.1 The Board has formed a combined Nomination and Remuneration Committee. A 
copy of the charter for the NRC is provided on the company’s website. The 
qualifications of the members of the nomination and remuneration committee are set 
out in the Prospectus in Section 5.1.
A copy of the charter for the NRC is provided on the Company’s website.

P

8.2 The Board has adopted a remuneration policy for Non-Executive Directors. A 
remuneration policy for Executive Directors and other senior executives will be 
developed post Completion. A copy of the Non-Executive Director remuneration 
policy is provided on the Company’s website.

P

8.3 The Company’s Securities Trading Policy prohibits participants of any equity-based 
remuneration scheme entering into transactions which limits the economic risk of a 
participant.

P



 
6. Financial Information
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Auditor's Report
To the Board of Directors:

We have audited the financial statements of Shaanxi Mingguan Food and Beverage Co., Ltd, (hereinafter referred

to as ‘the Company’), which comprise the balance sheet as at 30 June 2020, 31 December 2019, 31 December

2018 and 31 December 2017, and the income statement, the statement of cash flows for the year then ended and

notes to the financial statements.

In our opinion, the accompanying balance sheets and the related income statements, statements of comprehensive

income, changes in equity and cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the

Company at January to June 2020, 2019, 2018 and 2017, and December 31, 2015 and their cash flows in

conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards

Board.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statement

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair

view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International

Accounting Standard Board, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the

preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The

directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the

Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company

and enable them to ensure that the financial statements and the comply with the IFRS. They are also responsible

for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection

of fraud and other irregularities.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law

and IFRS. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audits to

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether

effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the

financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the

financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and

evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability

to any other person for the contents of this report.

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to

give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by

fraud or error. We primarily focus our work in these areas by assessing the directors’ judgements against available

evidence, forming your own judgements, and evaluating the disclosures in the financial statements. We test and

examine information, using sampling and other auditing techniques, to the extent we consider necessary to
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provide a reasonable basis for us to draw conclusions. We obtain audit evidence through testing the effectiveness

of controls, substantive procedures or a combination of both.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit

opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the company as at

June 30, 2020 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with both

PRC GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards.

China Audit Asia Pacific

Certified Public Accountant LLP

August 31, 2020
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Notes
For the year

ended
For the year

ended
For the year

ended
For the year

ended

June 30, 2020 December 31, 2019
December 31,

2018
December 31,

2017
RMB RMB RMB RMB

Revenue 4 6,810,349.90 25,081,621.42 23,606,993.27 8,180,117.10
Cost of sales 5 （4,051,214.64） (15,132,668.38) (14,154,162.49） （5,144,970.76）
Gross profit 2,759,135.26 9,948,953.04 9,452,830.78 3,035,146.34

Administrative
expenses

（966,467.59） (2,492,142.64) （1,322,945.70） （864,321.39）

（6,501.99） （1,013,718.35） （1,488,940.74） （1,405,122.53）
Finance expenses 6 （352,492.87） (1,604,217.15) （1,436,292.32） （1,452,277.96）
Selling expenses 64,450.25 （55,939.45） （1,884,619.79） （35,600.00）

Loss/gain on disposal
1,498,123.06 4,782,935.45 3,320,032.23 -722,175.54

Loss/gain before tax
- (998,924.59) - -

Income tax （26,715.13） （787,237.10） （768,679.16） （108,869.07）
Business taxes
And surcharges

1,471,407.93 2,996,773.76 2,551,353.07 -831,044.61
Loss/gain after tax

（81,726.19） (179,566.15) 149,668.18 -18,678.72
Other comprehensive

income or loss
1,389,681.74 2,817,207.61 2,701,021.25 -849,723.33

Total comprehensive
income or loss

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per

share
Diluted earnings per

share

7

0.0232

0.0232

0.0470

0.0470

0.0450

0.0450

-0.0273

-0.0273

The above Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Notes
As at June 30,

2020
As at December

31, 2019

As at
December 31,

2018

As at
December 31,

2017
RMB RMB RMB RMB

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Land and building 8 2,398,386.70 2,581,490.13 2,783,127.69 2,984,765.25
Property, plant and equipment 8 1,988,417.09 1,943,343.70 1,602,903.41 1,439,281.24
Investment property 343,878.68
Long term trade receivables 10,997,677.23 10,997,677.23 10,997,677.23 10,936,666.67
Intangible assets 49,272,789.74 49,272,789.74 49,502,789.74 29,999,994.27
Total non-current assets 3,046,780.76 3,093,309.75 3,186,367.74 3,279,425.73

68,047,930.20 67,888,610.55 68,072,865.81 48,640,133.16
Current assets
Inventory 2,211,515.86 2,026,272.91 1,697,837.41 2,772,197.48
Trade and other receivables 9 38,024,442.02 32,321,134.09 33,102,061.27 41,627,333.77
Prepayments 10 357,611.60 350,322.96 188,425.96 507,435.17
Cash and cash equivalents 11 214,632.64 1,106,288.67 82,719.09 4,510.50
Other current assets 5,000.00
Total current assets 30,808,202.12 31,809,758.44 35,076,043.73 44,911,476.92

Total assets 98,856,132.32 99,698,368.99 103,148,909.54 93,551,610.08

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Short term loan 12,900,000.00 12,900,000.00 24,400,000.00
Interest payables 28,273.97 3,173,105.01 1,687,672.52
Trade payables and
Other payables

12 33,977,468.21 17,431,721.83 15,965,056.63 28,505,260.65

Tax payables 208,099.51 208,099.51 694,613.81 214,282.08
Deposit received 66,596.05 242,949.97
Payable remuneration 229,215.31 72,866.32 115,078.10 120,308.30
Total current liabilities 24,414,783.03 26,646,701.44 32,914,449.60 55,170,473.52

Non-current liabilities - - - -
Total liabilities 34,414,783.03 30,640,961.63 32,914,449.60 55,170,473.52

EQUITY
Issued capital 13 60,000,000.00 60,000,000.00 60,000,000.00 31,117,800.00
Earned surplus 14 1,390,149.68 1,390,149.68 1,108,428.92 838,326.79
Retained earnings 13,051,199.61 11,661,517.87 9,126,031.02 6,425,009.77
Total equity 74,441,349.29 73,051,667.55 70,234,459.94 38,381,136.56

Total equity and liabilities 108,856,132.32 103,692,629.18 103,148,909.54 93,551,610.08
The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Note

For the

half-year

ended

For the year

ended

For the year

ended

For the year

ended

June 30, 2020
December 31,

2019

December 31,

2018
December 31, 2017

RMB RMB RMB RMB

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit or loss before interest and tax 1,389,681.74 2,817,207.61 2,924,967.30 -4,218,252.62

Depreciation or impairment of assets 811,877.30 3,384,586.46 491,245.48 3,978,223.23

Unrealized FX (gain)/loss

Changes in Assets and Liabilities

179,566.15

199,654.75

-50,380.28

-56,931.34

-2,121,070.23

2,217,964.22

(Increase)/Decrease in receivables 295,143.24 4,848,290.37 18,169,779.16 5,057,663.39

Increase/(decrease)in payables and

provisions

-2,406,702.59 770,337.08 -10,750,885.71 -5,601,180.43

Decrease/(Increase) in inventory

Cash generated from operations

-185,242.95 -197,154.61

12,002,487.81

1,074,360.07

11,802,154.59

250,969.58

-435,682.86

Interest paid -1,065,540.00 -3,508.25 -80,733.11

Tax paid -2,272,675.99 -220,438.05 -108,869.07

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating

activities

-95,243.26 8,664,271.82 11,578,208.59 -625,285.04

Cash flows from investing activities

796,412.77 -3,430,331.20

Net cash outflow used in investing activities -796,412.77 -3,430,331.20 - -

Cash flows from financing activities
12,900,000.00

Payment of loan
-12,900,000.00

-4,210,371.04

-11,500,000.00 -

Net cash outflow from financing activities -4,210,371.04 78,208.59 -

Net increase（decrease） in cash and cash

equivalents

-891,656.03 1,023,569.58 78,208.59 -625,280.81

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of

year

1,106,288.67 82,719.09 4,510.50 629,791.31
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Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 214,632.64 1,106,288.67 82,719.09 4,510.50

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

The company principally engaged in Condiments, food and food accessories production, agricultural and

sideline products processing, grain acquisition, processing, pre-packaged food processing, marketing

Shaanxi Mingguan Food and Beverage Co., Ltd. was registered with Hanzhong Administration for Industry and

Commerce on September 3, 2001. Legal representative Li Shi, the company's business scope includes

condiments, food and food accessories production, agricultural and sideline products processing, etc. The

address is the middle section of Hanwu Road, Hantai District, Hanzhong City.

The financial statements are presented in Renminbi ("RMB"), which is also the functional currency of the

Company and its principal subsidiaries.

2. SIGINIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a．Statement of compliance

The financial statements of Shaanxi Mingguan Food and Beverage Co., Ltd. have been prepared in

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) and International Financial

Reporting Interpretations Committee (‘IFRIC’) interpretations as issued by the International Accounting

Standards Board (‘IASB’). The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost

convention, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below. These financial statements have been

prepared under the historical cost convention, except as modified by the revaluation of certain financial

assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

b. Basis of preparation of the financial statements

This financial statement includes all financial report from January 1, 2017 to June 30, 2020. The

functional currency of this company is Renminbi (“RMB”) and financial position of the company is

expressed in RMB. Significant accounting policies adopted by this company are disclosed below.

c. Consistent application of accounting policies

The accounting policies have been consistently applied by all entities included in the Group financial

statements and are consistent with those applied in all prior years presented.

d. Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment

charges. Cost is the fair value of the consideration given to acquire the asset at the time of its acquisition
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or construction and includes the direct cost of bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary

for the operation and the estimated future cost of closure and rehabilitation of the facility.

Depreciation commences on the date of commissioning. The major categories of property, plant and

equipment are depreciated on a unit of production and/or straight-line basis using estimated lives

indicated below.

Fixtures, fittings and office

equipment
20 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each

reporting period. Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the

carrying amount and are recognized in the income statement.

e．Impairment and reversal of impairment of non-current assets

Assets that are subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is

recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. Formal

impairment tests for all assets are performed when there is an indication of impairment. The company

conducts an internal review of asset values annually, which is used as a source of information to assess

for any indications of impairment or reversal of previously recognized impairment losses. External

factors, such as changes in expected future prices, costs and other market factors are also monitored to

assess for indications of impairment or reversal of previously recognized impairment losses. If any such

indication exists, an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount is calculated, being the higher of fair

value less direct costs of disposal and the asset’s value in use. If the carrying amount of the asset exceeds

its recoverable amount, the asset is impaired and an impairment loss is charged to the income statement

so as to reduce the carrying amount on the balance sheet to its recoverable amount. A reversal of a

previously recognized impairment loss is limited to the lesser of the amount that would not cause the

carrying amount to exceed (a) its recoverable amount; or (b) the carrying amount that would have been

determined (net of depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset or

cash-generating unit. Fair value is determined as the amount that would be obtained from the sale of the

asset in an orderly transaction between market participants.

f． Financial assets

The company classifies its financial assets in the following categories: loans and receivables, and

available-for-sale. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired.

Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.
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Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are

not quoted in an active market. The company's loans and receivables comprise ‘accounts receivables’,

‘other receivables’, ‘term deposits with banks’, ‘cash and cash equivalents’ and assets other than

‘prepaid expenses’, and ‘other non-current assets’ in the balance sheet.

Financial assets, available-for-sale

Financial assets, available-for-sale are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not

classified as loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments or financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss. They are included in non-current assets unless the investment matures or management

intends to dispose of it within 12months of the end of the reporting period.

Measure and reorganization

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade-date - the date on which the

company commits to purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognized at fair value plus

transaction costs. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the

investments have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks

and rewards of ownership. Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently carried at fair value.

Loans and receivables are subsequently carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less

provision for impairment.

Changes in the fair value of available-for-sale securities are recognized in other comprehensive income

and accumulated in ‘fair value reserve’ within equity. When securities classified as available-for-sale are

sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognized in equity are included in the income

statement. Interest on available-for-sale securities calculated using the effective interest method is

recognized in the income statement. Investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market

price in an active market and whose fair values cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost less

provision for impairment in value.

Impairment of financial assets

The company assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a

financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is

impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result

of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss

event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of

financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
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The criteria that the Group uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss

include:

• Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor;

• A breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;

• It becomes probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization;

• The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

g. Cash and cash equivalents

In the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call

with banks and other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or

less with an insignificant risk of change in value.

h. Income tax

Tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax charge. The tax currently

payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the

Income Statement because it excludes items of income or expenses which are taxable or deductible in

other years and it further excludes items which are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for

current tax is calculated using tax rates which have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance

sheet date.

Deferred income tax is recognized, using the liabilities method, on temporary differences arising

between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.

However, if the temporary difference arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a

transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither

accounting nor taxable profit or loss, no deferred tax will be recognized. Deferred tax is determined

using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and

are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realized or the deferred tax liability

is settled. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits

will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset

current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities

relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different

taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
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i. Revenue

The company derives its revenue from selling production og condiments,foods and food

accessories,agricultural and sideline products.

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and

services in the ordinary course of the company’s activities. Revenue is shown excluding value added

taxes, net of discounts and after eliminating sales within the company.

The company recognizes revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable

that future economic benefits will flow to the entity. Revenue from organizing exhibitions and business

seminars is recognized at the conclusion of the event and the related direct event production costs are

deferred and recognized as expenses upon conclusion of the event.

j. Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership retained by the lessor are

classified as operating leases. The company leases certain office facilities and exhibition venues under

cancellable and non-cancellable operating leases, generally with an option to renew upon expiry of the

lease term. Rentals under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are expensed

on a straight-line basis over the life of the leases.

3．Critical accounting estimates and judgments

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other

factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the

circumstances.

The company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting

estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that

have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year are addressed below.

3.1 Income Taxes

Significant judgment is involved in determining the company provision for income taxes and

recognition of deferred tax assets. There are certain transactions and computations for which the ultimate

tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The company recognizes liabilities

for expected tax issues based on reasonable estimates of whether additional taxes will be due and

recognizes deferred income tax assets on carried forward tax losses and on deductible temporary

differences to the extent there are sufficient estimated future taxable profits and/or taxable temporary
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differences against which the tax losses and temporary differences can be utilized. Where the final tax

outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recognized, such differences

will impact the income tax and deferred tax recognized in the period in which such determination is

made.

3.2 Impairment of trade and other receivables

Impairment of trade and other receivables is assessed on the basis of their recoverable amount.

Identification of impairment requires management to consider the balance, aging, whether there is a

dispute, the recent payment model and any other data relating to company’ s reputation, and then make

judgments and estimates. If the actual result is different from the original impairment estimate, the

difference will affect the carrying amount and impairment loss of trade and other receivables during the

estimated change period.

4. REVENUE

For the year ended For the year ended
For the year

ended
For the year ended

June 30, 2020 December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

RMB RMB RMB RMB
Sales of goods 6,810,349.90 25,081,621.42 23,606,993.27 8,180,117.10
Total Revenue 6,810,349.90 25,081,621.42 23,606,993.27 8,180,117.10

5. BEFORE TAX

The Company's lossbefore tax is deducted / (included) after the following:

For the year
ended

For the year ended For the year ended For the year ended

June 30, 2020 December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

RMB RMB RMB RMB
Cost of sales 4,051,214.64 15,132,668.38 14,154,162.49 5,144,970.76

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

489,745.35 204,170.57 196,549.93 472,105.64

Depreciation of land and building 100,818.78 201,637.56 201,637.56 201,637.56

Employee's salary 971,534.00 1,711,226.50 115,078.10 120,308.30

6. FINANCE COST
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As at As at As at As at
June 30, 2020 December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

RMB RMB RMB RMB
Bank service fee 6,501.99 1,065,540.00 1,488,940.74 1,405,122.53

7. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share

The basic earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to equity holders of the parent company

and the weighted average number of issued ordinary shares for the year (60,000,000.00 shares in 2020 to

2018 and 31,117,800.00 shares in 2017)

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the

Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year excluding

ordinary shares purchased by the Company and held as treasury shares.

For the year
ended

For the year ended For the year ended For the year ended

June 30, 2020 December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

RMB RMB RMB RMB
Total profit/(loss) attributable to equity
holders of the Company

1,389,681.74 2,817,207.61 2,701,021.25 -849,723.33

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding

60,000,000.00 60,000,000.00 60,000,000.00 31,117,800.00

Basic earnings per share 0.0232 0.0470 0.0450 -0.0273

8. LAND,PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Office equipment
(food processing machine, etc.)

Total

RMB

January-June 2020 (as of June 30,
2020)
Cost
Opening balance
Additions
Total Cost

11,705,786.32
452,534.09

12,158,320.41
Depreciation
Opening balance
Depreciation for the year
Total accumulated depreciation

7,180,952.49
590,564.13

7,771,516.62
Net book amount 4,386,803.79
2019 (as of 31 December 2017)
Cost
Opening balance
Additions

8,275,455.12
3,489,963.68
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Office equipment
(food processing machine, etc.)

Total

RMB
Scrap -59,632.48
Total Cost 11,705,786.32
Depreciation
Opening balance
Depreciation for the year
Scrap

3,889,424.02
3,347,229.33
-55,700.86

Total accumulated depreciation 7,180,952.49
Net book amount 4,524,833.83
2018 (Year ended 31 December 2016)
Cost
Opening balance

Additions
Total Cost

7,915,283.02
360,172.10

8,275,455.12
Depreciation

Opening balance
Depreciation for the year.
Total accumulated depreciation

3,491,236.53
398,187.49

3,889,424.02

Net book amount 4,317,327.10
2017 (Year ended 31 December 2016)
Cost
Opening balance

Additions
Total Cost

7,869,683.02
45,600.00

7,915,283.02
Depreciation
Opening balance
Depreciation for the year.
Total accumulated depreciation

2,817,493.33
673,743.20

3,491,236.53
Net book amount 4,424,046.49

ABSTRACT: Because of the usefulness, scarcity and effective demand of China's system of compensated limited-term use of

land and land use right, enterprise land use right conforms to the definition of intangible assets and needs to be depreciated.

9. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

As at As at As at As at

June 30, 2020
December 31,

2019

December 31,

2018

December 31,

2017

RMB RMB RMB RMB
Trade receivables 5,498,746.52 2,975,791.16 2,209,204.54 1,819,169.18
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Other receivables 23,617,013.24 30,354,934.48 31,722,882.13 40,787,858.17
Provision for doubtful debt 1,091,317.74 1,009,591.55 830,025.40 979,693.58

Carrying amount of trade and other receivables 28,024,442.02 32,321,134.09 28,130,655.69 41,627,333.77

The aging analysis of these accounts receivable is as follows:

As at As at As at As at

June 30, 2020 December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
December 31,

2017

RMB RMB RMB RMB
No overdue 5,498,746.52 2,975,791.16 2,209,204.54 1,819,169.18
Overdue intact 324,163.05 148,789.56 376,386.42 180,141.34
Overdue damaged

Total trade receivables 5,174,583.47 2,827,001.60 1,832,818.12 1,639,027.84

10. PREPAYMENT

As at As at As at As at
June 30, 2020 December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

RMB RMB RMB RMB
Prepaid expenses* 357,611.60 350,322.96 188,425.96 507,435.17

*

11. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

As at As at As at As at
June 30, 2020 December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

RMB RMB RMB RMB
Cash at bank 214,632.64 1,106,288.67 82,719.09 4,510.50

12. OTHER PAYABLES

As at As at As at As at

June 30, 2020 December 31, 2019
December 31,

2018
December 31, 2017

RMB RMB RMB RMB
Payables to related parties 1,614,529.51 1,739,030.58 1,504,190.88 2,050,008.50
Other payables 32,362,938.70 15,692,691.25 14,460,865.75 26,455,252.15
Employee benefits accrued 229,215.31 72,866.32 115,078.10 120,308.30
Total other payables 34,206,683.52 17,504,588.15 16,080,134.73 28,625,568.95

13. SHARE CAPITAL

As at As at As at As at

June 30, 2020
December 31,

2019

December 31,

2018
December 31, 2017

RMB RMB RMB RMB
Fully paid ordinary shares 60,000,000.00 60,000,000.00 60,000,000.00 31,117,800.00

14. RESERVE
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Earnings reserve refers to the accumulated funds withdrawn from net profits by enterprises in

accordance with regulations. China's accounting standards are unique subjects, which can be divided

into two categories. The first is statutory surplus reserve. Corporate enterprises must extract 10% of their

after-tax profits, and can no longer extract 50% of their registered capital. The second is arbitrary surplus

reserve, according to the provisions of the shareholders'meeting of the enterprise, the enterprise decides

the proportion of the withdrawal by itself.

15. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions described in other parts of the financial statements, the Company has executed the following

transactions during the year:

Trade with related parties

For the
year ended

For the year
ended

For the year
ended

For the year
ended

June 30, 2020
December 31,

2019

December 31,

2017

December 31,

2017

RMB RMB RMB RMB
Hanzhong Silk
Reeling Co., Ltd.

Come-and-go
money

20,875,496.75 25,562,450.65 30,562,450.65 21,223,400.62

Hanzhong Baisheng
Industrial Co., Ltd.

Come-and-go
money

1,460,423.50 4,769,001.74 9,202.00 15,954,698.75

Xifeng hotel
Come-and-go
money

- - - （411,594.92）

Li shi
Come-and-go
money

- - - （298,900.00）

Zhang yi ming
Come-and-go
money

- （63,494.40）
（ 4,276,300.00
）

16. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Company does have no material contingent liabilities.

17. SUBSEQUENT EVETNS

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 31 December 2017 that has significantly affected, or may significantly

affect the Company's operations, the results of those operations, or the Company's state of affairs in future financial years.
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Directors’ Declaration

In the Directors' opinion:

 the attached financial statements and notes comply with the Corporations Act 2001,
Australian Accounting Standard AASB 134 'Interim Financial Reporting', the Corporations
Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements;

 the attached financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the entity's financial
position as at 31 December 2018 and of its performance for the financial half-year ended on
that date; and

 there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and
when they become due and payable.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to section 303(5)(a) of the
Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the directors

Xu Mingyue

CPA

August 31, 2020
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Auditor's report 

To the Board of Directors 

We have audited the financial statements of Shaanxi Mingguan Food and Beverage Co., Ltd. (hereinafter referred to as 

the "Company"), including the Balance Sheet and  Profit and Loss Statement , the Annual Cash Flow Statement and 

the Notes to the Financial statements as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018. 

In our opinion, the accompanying Balance Sheet and related  Profit and Loss Statement, Consolidated Income 

Statement, Statement of Changes in Equity and Cash Flow Statement present fairly in all material respects of the 

financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, as well as the results of 

business performance and cash flows for 2019.And all of these are complied with the international financial 

reporting standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Committee. 

Director's responsibility for financial statements 

The directors of the company are responsible for preparing the financial statements, providing true and fair advice 

in accordance with the International Financial reporting Standards ((IFRS)) issued by the IASC, and the Board 

considers it necessary to ensure the preparation of financial statements free of material misstatements, whether 

due to fraud or error. The directors are responsible for maintaining sufficient accounting records to show and 

explain the company's transactions, to disclose the company's financial status reasonably and accurately at all 

times, and to enable the directors to ensure that the financial statements comply with IFRS. Directors are also 

responsible for protecting the company's assets and taking reasonable measures to prevent and detect fraud and 

other violations. 

 

Auditor's responsibility 

It is our responsibility to audit and express opinions on the financial statements in accordance with applicable 

laws and International Financial Reporting Standards. These standards require us to comply with the ethics and 

conduct audits in order to provide reasonable assurance as to whether there are material misstatements in the 

financial statements and whether effective internal controls over financial reporting are maintained in all material 

aspects. Our audit of the financial statements includes examining, on a spot check basis, the evidence supporting 

the amounts and disclosures of the financial statements, the accounting principles used in the assessment and 

material estimates made by management, and evaluating the presentation of the overall financial statements. We 

are not responsible or legally liable to any other person for the contents of this report. 

The audit involves obtaining evidence of the amount and disclosure of the financial statements, which is sufficient 

to reasonably ensure that the financial statements are free of material misstatements, whether caused by fraud or 

error. We focus on these aspects mainly by evaluating the directors' judgment of the existing evidence, forming 

your own judgment and evaluating the disclosures in the financial statements. We use sampling and other audit 

techniques to examine and inspect information, and we consider it necessary to provide us with a reasonable basis 

to draw conclusions. We obtain audit evidence by testing the effectiveness of controlling, substantive procedures, 

or a combination of both ways. 
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

 

Opinion 

We believe that the financial statements give a true and fair view of the company's financial position as of 

December 31, 2019, as well as its annual financial performance and cash flows in accordance with accounting 

standards of China and International Financial Reporting Standards. 

China Audit Asia Pacific  

Certified Public Accountant 

 

March 1, 2020 

 

 

 

 

 

Consolidated profit and loss and consolidated income statement 

 

 Notes: For the year ended For the year ended  

  2019 2018  

  RMB  RMB  

Revenue  4 25,081,621.42 23,606,993.27   

Selling cost 5 (15,132,668.38) （14,154,162.49）   

Net profits  9,948,953.04 9,452,830.78   

     

Administrative 

expenses 
 (2,492,142.64) （1,173,277.52） 

 

     

Financial expenses 6 （1,013,718.35） （1,488,940.74）  

Selling expenses  (1,604,217.15) （1,436,292.32）  

Disposal loss / gains  （55,939.45）  （1,991,931.41）   

     

Pre-tax loss / profit  4,782,935.45 3,362,388.79  

     

Income tax  (998,924.59) -  

Business Tax 

and surcharge 
 （787,237.10）  （768,679.16）  

 

     

After-tax loss / benefit  2,996,773.76   
2,593,709.63  

  

 

     

Other comprehensive 

income or loss 
 (179,566.15) 107,311.62   
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Total consolidated 

income or loss 
 2,817,207.61 2,701,021.25  

 

     

Earnings per share 

Basic earnings per 

share 

Diluted earnings per 

share 

7 

0.0470 

 

0.0470 

 

0.0868 

 

0.0868 

 

 

     

 

The above statement of profit and loss and other consolidated income should be read together with the note. 

 

 

 

 

 Statement of financial position 

 

 Notes: 
For the year ended 31 

December 2019 

For the year ended 31 December 

2018 

  RMB RMB 

Assets    

Non-current assets     

Real estate 8 2,581,490.13 2,783,127.69 

Property, plant and equipment  8 1,943,343.70 1,602,903.41    

Investment property  10,997,677.23 10,997,677.23 

Long term accounts receivable        49,272,789.74 49,502,789.74  

Intangible assets  3,093,309.75 3,186,367.74 

Total non-current assets  67,888,610.55 68,072,865.81 

    

Current assets    

Inventory  2,026,272.91 1,697,837.41   

Trade and other receivables 9 28,326,873.90 33,102,061.27  

Advance payment 10 350,322.96 188,425.96 

Cash and cash equivalents 11 1,106,288.67 82,719.09   

Other current assets   5,000.00 

Total current assets   31,809,758.44 35,076,043.73 

    

Total assets  99,698,368.99 103,148,909.54  

    

Liabilities      

    

Current liabilities    

Short-term loans  12,900,000.00  12,900,000.00  

Interest payable  28,273.97 3,173,105.01  

Trade payables 

and other payables 
12 13,437,461.64 15,965,056.63  

Tax payable  208,099.51 694,613.81  
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Advance payment   66,596.05  

Salary payable  72,866.32 115,078.10   

Total current liabilities  26,646,701.44 32,914,449.60  

    

Non-current liabilities   - 

    

Total liabilities  26,646,701.44 32,914,449.60  

    

 

 
   

Equity ownership    

Issued share capital 13 60,000,000.00 60,000,000.00 

Earned surplus 14 1,390,149.68 1,108,428.92  

Retained earnings  11,661,517.87 9,126,031.02  

Total equity  73,051,667.55 70,234,459.94  

    

Total equity and debt  99,698,368.99 103,148,909.54  

    

 

The above statement of financial position should be read together with the notes 

 

Cash Flow Statement 

 

 Notes: For the year ended For the year ended  

  2019 2018  

  RMB RMB  

Cash flow from operating activities  

                  

 

 

                  

 

 

 

Earning before interest and taxes  2,817,207.61 2,924,967.30  

Depreciation or impairment of assets   3,384,586.46 491,245.48  

Unrealized exchange (gain) / loss   

Changes in assets and liabilities   
 

179,566.15 199,654.75   -50,380.28   

-56,931.34  

 

Receivables (increase) / decrease  4,848,290.37 18,169,779.16    

Increase / (decrease) of payables and reserves  770,337.08 -10,750,885.71   

Inventory decrease / (increase)  

 

Cash flow from business activities 

 

-197,154.61 

 

12,002,487.81 

1,074,360.07                    

 

11,802,154.59 

 

Interest paid   -1,065,540.00 -3,508.25  

Tax paid  -2,272,675.99 -220,438.05  

Net cash generated in operating activities 

(used) / generated 
 

8,664,271.82 11,578,208.59  

     

     

Cash flow from investment activities     

Cash paid for the purchase and construction  -3,430,331.20   
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of fixed assets, intangible assets and other 

long-term assets 

 

Net cash outflow for investment activities  -3,430,331.20 - - 

     

Cash flow from financing activities 

    Cash received from obtaining a loan 

 

 

 

12,900,000.00        

       

 
 

Loan payment 

Cash paid for the payment of interest 

 

 

-12,900,000.00 

 -4,210,371.04             

-11,500,000.00    

 

         

- 

Net cash outflow from financing activities  -4,210,371.04 78,208.59 - 

     

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 

equivalents 
 

1,023,569.58 78,208.59  

      

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of 

the year 
 

82,719.09 4,510.50  

     

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 

year 
 

1,106,288.67 82,719.09  

 

 

1． Basic Information 

The company is mainly engaged in the production of condiments and food excipients, the processing of 

agricultural products, the purchase and processing of grain, packaging, processing, sales of food. 

Shaanxi Mingguan Food and Beverage Co., Ltd. was registered with Hanzhong Administration for Industry and 

Commerce on September 3, 2001. Li Shi is the legal representative of the company.The company's business 

scope includes condiments, food accessories production, the processing  of agricultural and sideline products 

and so on. Address: Middle Section of Hanwu Road, Hantai District, Hanzhong City, Shaanxi Province,China. 

The financial statements are presented in RMB ("RMB"), which is also the functional currency of the 

Company and its principal subsidiaries. 

2． Major accounting policies 

a.Statement of compliance 

The financial statements of Shaanxi Mingguan Food and Beverage Co., Ltd. are prepared in accordance 

with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting 

Standards Board (IASB) and the International Financial reporting Interpretation Committee (IFRC). 

Except for the accounting policies disclosed below, the financial statements have been prepared in 

accordance with the principle of historical cost . These financial statements are prepared in accordance 
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with the historical cost principle, with the exception of certain modifications based on the revaluation of 

financial assets at fair value to profit or loss. 

b. Basis for the preparation of financial statements 

These financial statements include all financial reports for the period from 1 January 2015 to 31 

December 2018. The functional currency of the company is RMB ("RMB"), and the financial position of 

the company is presented in RMB. The important accounting policies adopted by the Company are 

disclosed below. 

c. Consistency in the application of accounting policies 

Accounting policies are consistently applied to all entities listed in the group's financial statements and 

are consistent with accounting policies for all previous years. 

Property, plant and equipments  

Property, plant and equipment are accounted at the cost minus accumulated depreciation and impairment 

charges. Cost refers to the fair value of the consideration given at the time of acquisition or construction 

of the asset and includes the direct cost of transporting the asset to where it is needed and the conditions 

required for operation and the estimated cost of shutting down and restoring equipment. 

Depreciation begins on the operating date. According to the expected service life shown below, most of 

the property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the basis of the production unit and the straight-line 

method.  

 

Installations, accessories and office 

equipment 

Twenty 

years 

At the end of each reporting period, the residual value and durable years   of the assets are reviewed 

and adjusted as appropriate. The profit or loss on sale is determined by comparing the proceeds of the 

sale with the book value and is recognized in the Profit and Loss Statement. 

e. Impairment of non-current assets and  reversing assets devaluation. 

Whenever the book amount may not be recovered as a result of events or changes in circumstances, the 

assets to be amortized will be subject to an impairment check. Recognize the impairment loss on the 

difference between the book amount of the asset and its recoverable amount. When there are signs of 

impairment, we will start a formal impairment test for all assets. The Company conducts an internal 

assessment of the value of the asset each year as a source of information to assess any signs of 
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impairment or previously recognized reversal of impairment losses. External factors (such as expected 

price changes, costs and other market factors) are also monitored to assess signs of impairment or 

reversal of previously recognized impairment losses. If there are any such signs, the estimated value of 

the recoverable amount of the asset is calculated, that is, the fair value minus the one that is the higher 

between the direct sale cost and the use value of the asset, respectively. If the book value of an asset 

exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is impaired and the impairment loss is recorded in the Profit 

and Loss Statement, and the book value of the Balance Sheet is written down to the recoverable amount. 

The reversal of previously recognised impairment losses is limited to the amount that does not cause the 

book value to exceed the recoverable amount of (a); or that (b) has recognized that there is no 

impairment loss on the asset or cash output unit to the lesser amount of the book value. The fair value is 

determined as the amount obtained from the sale of assets in an orderly transaction between market 

participants.  

f. Financial assets 

The Company divides its financial assets into the following categories: loans and accounts receivable 

and financial assets available-for-sale. Classification depends on the purpose of acquiring financial 

assets.` The classification is determined by the management when the financial assets are initially 

recognized. 

Loans and accounts receivable 

Loans and receivables refer to non-derivative financial assets that are fixed or identifiable in an active 

market and are not quoted. he Company's loans and receivables include "Accounts receivable", "other 

receivables", "Bank fixed deposits", "Cash and cash equivalents" and assets other than "Advance 

payments" and "Other non-current assets" in the Balance Sheet. 

Financial assets and assets available for sale 

Financial assets and financial assets available-for-sale are non-derivatives designated as that category, or 

financial assets that are not included in loans and accounts receivable, hold-to-maturity investments, or 

are recorded in the profits and losses of the current period at fair value measurement changes. Unless the 

investment matures or management intends to sell it within 12 months after the end of the reporting 

period, it is included in non-current assets. 

Measurement and reorganization 

The regular purchase and sale of financial assets is recognized on the trading day (that is, the date on 

which the company commits to buy or sell assets). The investment is initially recognized at fair value 

plus transaction costs. Financial assets are recognised to terminate when the right to receive cash flow 

from an investment expires or the group has transferred the ownership of all risks and rewards. 
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Subsequently financial assets available-for-sale are accounted for at fair value. Loans and accounts 

receivable are recorded by the effective interest rate method that is the amortised cost deducts the 

impairment of assets。 

Changes in the fair value of available-for-sale securities are recognized in other Consolidated Profit and 

Loss Statements and accumulated in the "Fair value reserve" in equity. When securities 

available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the cumulative fair value adjustments recognized in equity are 

included in the income statement. The interest on available-for-sale securities calculated at the effective 

interest rate method is recognized in the Profit and Loss Statement. Investments in equity instruments 

that are not quoted in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at 

cost minus impairment provision. 

Impairment of financial assets 

At the end of each reporting period, whether there is objective evidence of an impairment of a financial 

asset or group of financial assets. An impairment of one or a group of financial assets occurs only if 

there is objective evidence that one or more events ("loss events") that occur after the initial recognition 

of the assets ("loss events") and the loss events affect the estimated future cash flows of one or a group 

of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. 

The criteria used by the Group to determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment losses 

include:  

The issuer or debtor has major financial difficulties;  

Breach of contract, such as breach of contract or non-payment of interest or principal;  

Borrowers are likely to go bankrupt or undergo other financial restructuring;  

The active market of financial assets disappears due to financial difficulties. 

g. Cash and cash equivalents 

In the Cash Flows Statement, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, bank demand deposits 

and other short-term highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less and with 

little risk of value change. 

h. Income tax 

Taxes and fees refer to the sum of taxes payable and deferred taxes in the current period. The current tax 

payable is calculated on the basis of this year's taxable profits. Taxable profit is different from net profit 

in the Profit and Loss Statement because it does not include taxable or deductible income or expense 
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items in other years and does not include items that have never been taxed or deductible. The Group's 

current tax liabilities are calculated at tax rates that have been promulgated or substantially promulgated 

on the Balance Sheet date. 

Deferred income tax are determined by the temporary difference between the tax base of assets and 

liabilities and the book amount in the financial Statements. However, if the temporary difference arises 

from the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction rather than a business merger and does 

not affect accounting or taxable profit or loss at the time of the transaction,  The tax rate (and law) at 

which deferred tax is used in tax rates that have been promulgated or substantially promulgated on the 

Balance Sheet date and are expected to apply when the relevant deferred tax assets are realised or 

deferred tax liabilities are paid off will not be recognized. The recognition of deferred tax assets is 

limited to taxable profits that are likely to offset this temporary difference in the future. 

When there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities, and 

deferred income tax assets and liabilities are related to the income tax levied by the same tax authority 

on the same taxable entity or different taxable entities and intend to settle the balance on a net basis, the 

deferred income tax assets and liabilities may offset each other. 

i.Revenue 

The company earns revenue by selling a variety of condiments, food and food accessories, agricultural 

and sideline products. 

Revenue includes the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and 

services in the normal course of the company's activities. Income does not include VAT and deducts 

discounts and intra-company sales.  

The Company recognizes revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably calculated, and future 

economic benefits are likely to flow into the entity. Income from the organization of exhibitions and 

business seminars is recognized at the end of the event, and the production costs of the related direct 

activities are deferred and recognized as expenses at the end of the event.  

(j) Lease 

All risks and benefits of asset ownership are leases undertaken or enjoyed by the lessor as operating 

leases. The Company leases certain office facilities and exhibition space with revocable and irrevocable 

operating leases and generally has the option to renew the lease at the expiration of the lease term. The 

rent under the operating lease (deducting any incentives received from the lessor) is paid on a 

straight-line basis during the lease term. 

3. Major accounting estimates and judgments 
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 Assessments and judgments will be assessed based on historical experience and other factors, including 

expectations for future events that are considered reasonable in the current circumstances. 

The company makes estimates and assumptions about the future. By definition, the resulting accounting 

estimates are rarely equal to the relevant actual results. The estimates and assumptions that are likely to 

lead to significant adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the next financial year 

are described below. 

3.1 Income tax 

Determining the preparation of corporate income tax and the recognition of deferred income tax assets 

involve significant judgment. In the day-to-day business process, the final tax determination of some 

transactions and calculations is uncertain. The company recognizes the liability of the expected tax 

problem based on a reasonable estimate of whether the additional tax is due, and recognizes deferred 

income tax assets based on tax loss carryforward and deductible temporary differences, as long as there 

are sufficient estimates of future taxable profits and / or taxable temporary differences that can take 

advantage of tax losses and temporary differences. If there is a difference between the final 

determination of these tax matters and the amount originally recorded, the difference will have an 

impact on the income tax expenses and deferred income tax recognized during the period of such 

determination. 

3.2 Impairment of trade and other receivables 

Impairment of trade and other receivables is assessed on the basis of its recoverable amount. 

Determining the impairment requires management to consider balances, instalments, disputes, recent 

payment patterns and any other data related to the company's reputation, and then make judgments and 

estimates. If the actual result differs from the original impairment estimate, the difference will affect the 

book value and impairment loss of trade and other receivables during the expected change. 

 

 

 

 

4． Revenue  

 For the year ended For the year ended 

 Tuesday, December 31, 

2019 
Monday, December 31, 2018 

 RMB RMB 
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Sales of commodities 25,081,621.42 23,606,993.27  

Total revenue 25,081,621.42 23,606,993.27  

5． Before tax 

The company's pre-tax loss is deducted / (credited) after the following: 

 For the year ended For the year ended 

 Tuesday, December 31, 

2019 
Monday, December 31, 2018 

 RMB RMB 

Selling cost 15,132,668.38 14,154,162.49  

   

Depreciation of property, plant and 

equipment  

204,170.57  196,549.93                      

 

   

Real estate depreciation 201,637.56 201,637.56 

   

Staff and workers' wages 1,711,226.50 115,078.10 

6． Financial cost 

 For the year ended For the year ended 

 2019 2018 

 RMB RMB 

Bank service charge 1,065,540.00 1,488,940.74   

7． Earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share   

Basic earnings per share is calculated based on the profit attributable to equity holders of the company and 

the weighted average number of common shares issued in the year 

Basic earnings per share is calculated on the basis of the profit attributable to equity holders of the 

company divided by the weighted average number of common shares issued during the year (excluding 

common shares acquired by the company and ordinary shares held as inventory shares). 

 For the year ended For the year ended 

 
Tuesday, December 31, 

2019 
Monday, December 31, 2018 

 RMB RMB 

Total income / (loss) attributable to 

equity holders of the company 

2,817,207.61 2,701,021.25  

Weighted average number of ordinary 

tradable shares 
60,000,000.00 31,117,800.00  

Basic earnings per share 0.0470 0.0868 

8． Property, plant and equipment 
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Office equipment 

(food processing machinery, etc.) 
Sum 

   RMB 

2018 (as of December 31, 2018)    

Cost    

Opening Balance 

Additions 

Scrap 

Total cost 

 

              8,206,751.12     

1,213,439.98 

-59,632.48 

9,360,558.62 

   

Depreciation   

Opening Balance 

Depreciation this year 

Scrap 

Accumulated depreciation 

 

                4,317,327.10 

1,002,001.63 

-55,700.86 

               4,835,724.79    

 

Net book value    4,524,833.83               

2018 (as of December 31, 2018)   

Cost   

Opening Balance 

Additions 

Total cost 

 

              7,983,987.02     

         360,172.10 

8,206,751.12 

Depreciation    

Opening Balance 

Depreciation this year 

Accumulated depreciation 

  

   3,491,236.53 

398,187.50 

 3,889,424.02 

Net book value     4,317,327.10              

Abstract: due to the usefulness, scarcity and effective demand of the land and land use rights in China, the land use rights of 

enterprises conform to the definition of intangible assets and need to be depreciated. 

 

9． Trade and other receivables  

 For the year ended For the year ended 

 2019 2018 

 RMB RMB 

Trade accounts receivable 2,975,791.16 2,275,800.59    

Other accounts receivables 26,360,674.29 26,684,880.50 

Bad debt reserves  1,009,591.55 830,025.40 

Book value of trade and other receivables 28,326,873.90 28,130,655.69     

The age analysis of accounts receivable is as follows: 

 For the year ended For the year ended 

 
Tuesday, December 31, 

2019 
Monday, December 31, 2018 
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 RMB RMB 

No overdue 2,975,791.16 2,275,800.59 

Overdue without loss 502,442.49 360,368.13 

Overdue with loss  

Total accounts recivable          2,473,348.67 1,915,432.46   

10． Advance payment 

 For the year ended For the year ended 

 Tuesday, December 31, 

2019 
Monday, December 31, 2018 

 RMB RMB 

Prepaid fee * 350,322.96 188,425.96 

* 

11． Cash and cash equivalents 

 For the year ended For the year ended 

 Tuesday, December 31, 2019 Monday, December 31, 2018 

 RMB RMB 

Bank deposits 1,106,288.67 82,719.09 

12． and other payables 

 For the year ended For the year ended 

 Tuesday, December 31, 2019 Monday, December 31, 2018 

 RMB RMB 

Trade accounts payable to related parties 1,739,030.58 1,672,944.54   

and other payables 11,698,431.06 14,292,112.09 

Accrued employee benefits 72,866.32 115,078.10 

Other total payables 13,510,327.96 16,080,134.73 

13． Share capital 

 For the year ended For the year ended 

 Tuesday, December 31, 2019 Monday, December 31, 2018 

 RMB RMB 

Common share 

  

60,000,000.00  

 

60,000,000.00 

14． Surplus 

The income reserve refers to the accumulated funds drawn by the enterprise from the net profit in 

accordance with the regulations. Chinese accounting standards are relatively unique, which are divided 

into two categories. The first category is the statutory surplus reserve. An enterprise must withdraw 10% 

of its after-tax profit, but it can no longer be withdrawn when it reaches 50% of its registered capital. 
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The second category is arbitrary surplus reserve, which can be decided by the enterprise itself in 

accordance with the provisions of the shareholders' meeting of the enterprise. 

15． Related party transaction 

In addition to the transactions described in other parts of the financial statements, the company executed the following 

transactions during the year: 

Transactions with related parties 

 

  For the year ended For the year ended 

  Tuesday, December 31, 2019 Monday, December 31, 2018 

  RMB RMB 

Hanzhong Silk 

Reeling Co., Ltd. 
Current payment 25,562,450.65 30,562,450.65 

Hanzhong Baisheng 

Industrial Co., Ltd. 
Current payment  9,202.00             

West Wind Hotel Current payment - - 

Li Shi Current payment - - 

Zhang Yiming Current payment  （63,494.40） 

16． Contingent liability 

The Company has no other significant contingent liabilities. 

17． Follow-up matters 

Since December 31, 2017, no other matter or situation has had or is likely to have a material impact on the Company's 

operations, results of operations or the company's position in future financial years. 
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Director's statement 

 

The directors agreed that: 

 

• The attached financial statements and notes comply with the companies Act 2001, Australian 

Accounting Standards AASB 134 interim Financial reporting, companies regulations 2001 and 

other mandatory professional reporting requirements; 

 

• The attached financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the Company's 

financial position as at 31 December 2018 and its performance for the financial year ended 

that date; and 

 

• There is reasonable reason to believe that the company will be able to repay its debts at 

maturity. 

 

Signed in accordance with the resolution made by the Board of Directors in accordance with Section 

303 (5) (A)) of the Company Law 2001 

 

On behalf of the directors 

 

 

Xu Mingyue 

CPA 

15 January 2020 

 



 
8. Investing in PRC Based Australian Businesses

8.1 Overview of the Market

PRC is currently the second largest economy in the world with a high growth in GDP. Notwithstanding its 
size and growth, it continues to be a developing country with major economic divisions between urban 
and rural areas. PRC is also a member of the World Trade Organisation and is developing an 
increasingly open economy.
Since 1979, the PRC’s legislative bodies have passed laws and regulations dealing with such 
economic matters as foreign investment, corporate organisation and governance, commerce, taxation 
and trade. The legislative tendency since then has been to grant increased protection to foreign 
investors. In this way, significant progress has been made in the legal system of the PRC.
Despite significant improvement in developing its legal system, there remain uncertainties and/or 
inconsistencies in the enforcement of existing laws and regulations. Most current PRC legislation has 
been passed relatively recently. As a result, there is a lack of established practice regarding the 
implementation, interpretation and enforcement of these laws. For this reason, the interpretation of 
these laws and regulations may be more volatile and less predictable.

8.2 PRC Legal System
The PRC legal system is based on the Constitution of the PRC and comprises of written laws, 
administrative regulations and directives. Decided cases do not constitute binding precedents.
The National People’s Congress of China (NPC) and Standing Committee of NPC (SCNPC) are 
authorised by the Constitution of PRC to exercise the legislative power of the state to modify the 
Constitution of PRC and to pass and modify laws.
The State Council is the highest authority of state administration and has the power to pass 
administrative rules and regulations.
At the regional level, the standing committees of the people’s congresses of provinces and 
municipalities may pass local rules and regulations and the people’s government may publicise 
administrative rules and directives applicable to their own administrative areas. Rules, regulations or 
directives may be passed or issued at the provincial or municipal level.

8.3 Judicial System
The People’s Courts are the judicial structures of PRC and comprise of the local people’s courts, military 
courts and other special courts, and the Supreme People’s Court. The local people’s courts are divided 
into three levels, namely, the basic people’s courts, intermediate people’s courts and high people’s 
courts. There are also special courts, such as military courts, maritime courts, and rail transport courts.
A foreign individual or foreign enterprise is conferred the same litigation rights and obligations as a 
citizen or legal person of PRC, except where the courts of a foreign country impose restrictions on the 
civil litigation rights of the citizens, legal persons or other organisations, the People’s Courts of PRC 
shall follow the principle of reciprocity regarding the civil litigation rights of the citizens, enterprises and 
organisations of that foreign country.

8.4 Dispute Resolution
Arbitration is the most traditional and well-known form used in the dispute resolution out of court. 
Arbitration is characterised by flexibility and mutual acceptance of means of conflict resolution. Recently, 
commercial parties often seek less formal and more efficient means to settle their disputes, such as 
mediation.
Mediation is a process in which disputing parties are aided by a neutral third party to attempt to settle 
their dispute. Mediation, unlike arbitration, is not generally binding. The parties may, however, agree to 
enter into a settlement agreement. Mediation is voluntary and non-binding and its process is under the 
control of the parties themselves. Settlement will be reached only if it is acceptable to all the parties. If 
mediation fails, the dispute usually will go on to arbitration or litigation.



 
Under the Arbitration Law, an arbitral award is final and binding on parties and if a party fails to comply 
with the award, the other party to the award may apply to the people’s court for enforcement.
Whereas the award is cancelled or void under a rule by the People’s Court, the parties concerned may 
reach another agreement for arbitration and apply for arbitration or bring a suit in the people’s court.
8.5 Foreign Exchange
The main law governing foreign currency exchange in PRC is the Regulations of the PRC on Foreign 
Exchange Control. PRC’s national currency, Renminbi (RMB) is commonly freely convertible for 
payments of current account items, such as trade and service related foreign exchange transactions 
and dividend payments but not freely convertible for capital account items such as capital transfer, direct 
investment, investment in securities, derivative services or loan unless prior approval of State 
Administration of Foreign Exchange (SAFE) or its local counterparts is obtained.

8.6 Dividend Distribution
Profits of the Company’s entities are generated in China and under the PRC Company Law, a WFOE 
may remit profits generated in China to overseas only if the relevant restrictions are complied with. 
Pursuant to Article 166 of Company Law of the People’s Republic of China, companies shall contribute 
10% of the profits into their statutory common reserve upon distribution of their after-tax profits of the 
current year, until the aggregate balance of the statutory common reserve fund reaches 50% of the 
Company’s registered capital. As an established entity, these requirements have been met.
Tax Law prescribes a withholding tax rate of 10% on dividends and other PRC sourced passive income 
of non-resident enterprise, unless any such foreign investor’s jurisdiction of incorporation has a tax 
treaty with PRC that provides for a preferential withholding arrangement. The State Administrative of 
Taxation of China (SAT) promulgated a tax notice on 27 October 2009, or Circular 601, which provides 
that tax treaty benefits will be denied to “conduit” or shell companies without business substance, and a 
beneficial ownership analysis will be used based on a “substance-over-the-form” principle to determine 
whether or not to grant tax treaty benefits.

8.7 Taxation
(a) General
There are numerous taxes imposed on PRC entities, many of which may impact the Company and its 
subsidiaries. The Company notes that PRC Companies are subject to the following taxes in PRC:

Set out below is a summary of these taxes.

(b) Value Added Tax
The sale of goods, repairs and replacement services and the provision of labour services in relation 
to the processing of goods and import of goods within PRC are subject to value added tax (VAT) and 
the VAT rate is generally 17% unless otherwise stipulated by laws.
(c) Additional Education Tax and the Local Additional Education Tax
Certain PRC institutions and individuals are required to pay the Additional Education Tax and the Local 
Additional Education Tax to promote the development of local education and expanding the funding 

Description of Tax Basic Rate

Enterprise Income Tax 25%

Value-added Tax 17%

Construction Tax 5%

Educational Tax 3%

Local Educational Surcharges 2%

Stamp Tax 0.03%



 
sources for local education. PRC institutions and individuals are required to pay these taxes if they pay 
consumption tax, value-added tax or business tax.
As the PRC Companies pay value-added tax, they are required to pay:
(i) the Additional Education Tax at a rate of 3% of the VAT paid; and
(ii) the Local Additional Education Tax at a rate of 2% of the VAT paid.

(d) Urban Maintenance and Construction Tax
Certain PRC institutions and individuals are required to pay the Urban Maintenance and Construction 
Tax to promote maintenance and construction of urban public institutions and infrastructure. The PRC 
institutions and individuals are required to pay these taxes if they pay consumption tax, value-added tax 
or business tax. The rate of the Urban Maintenance and Construction Tax rate payable by the relevant 
PRC institutions and individuals depends on where that institution or individual is located.
As the PRC Companies pay value-added tax and is located in a place other than a city, county town or 
town, they are required to pay the Urban Maintenance and Construction Tax at the rate of 1% of the 
amount of the value-added tax paid by the PRC Companies.

(e) Stamp duty
Stamp duty is imposed on the execution or receipt in PRC of certain documents including contracts for 
purchases and sales, the undertaking of processing work, the contracting of construction and 
engineering projects, leases, commodity transport, warehousing, loans, property insurance, and 
technology. Stamp duty is also imposed on documentation affecting the transfer of property/shares, 
business account books and certificates evidencing rights and licences and other documents that are 
taxable as determined by the Ministry of Finance in PRC. Stamp duty rates vary for example, the 
transfer of shares in a PRC enterprise is 0.05% of the contract value for each party, and the purchase 
and sale contract is a 0.03% of the contract value.

(f) Individual income tax
Individual income tax (IIT) is imposed on all individuals, including both PRC and foreign nationals, 
residing in or deriving income from PRC. PRC residents are generally subject to tax on their 
worldwide income while non-residents are taxed on their PRC sourced income. IIT is imposed on 
income from wages and salaries from 3% to 45%, capital gains at 20% and interest, dividends, 
royalties at 20%.

(g) Other Taxes
Other taxes in PRC include customs duties for exports and imports, land appreciation tax, deed tax, real 
estate taxes, vehicle and vessel taxes and resource tax.

(h) Enterprise income tax
A resident enterprise is an enterprise that is established in PRC or which is established under the law of 
a foreign country (region) but whose actual institution of management is inside PRC. The PRC 
Companies are classified as a PRC resident enterprise. As a result, the PRC Companies are required to 
pay tax on income derived both outside and inside PRC at a rate of 25%.
A non-resident enterprise is an enterprise established under the law of a foreign country, whose actual 
institution of management is not inside PRC but which have offices or establishments inside PRC, or 
which does not have any offices or establishments inside PRC but has income sourced in PRC.
Based on information concerning relevant PRC laws and regulations provided by PRC advisors, the 
Directors have formed the view that the holding companies that are established outside of PRC are non-
resident PRC enterprises. As non-resident PRC enterprises, they will be required to pay a 10% 
enterprise income tax on any income that is generated by these companies that is derived from PRC.

(i) Other Taxes
Other taxes in PRC include without limitation customs duties for exports and imports, land appreciation 
tax, deed tax, real estate taxes, vehicle and vessel taxes.



 
8.8 Labour and Social Insurance
Major concerns for foreign invested enterprises operating in PRC are problems in hiring 
appropriately skilled labour, navigating many new and often vague labour and social safety net 
laws, limitations on the mobility of workers, and the shortage of independent trade unions as 
independent trade unions are illegal in PRC.
While worker protests and work stoppages occur frequently, the right to strike is not protected by law. 
Despite this, PRC labour laws largely meet international labour standards. However, implementation of 
existing labour regulations is poor.
Pursuant to the Labour Contract Law of the PRC, where an employer fails to conclude a written labour 
contract with an employee after the lapse of more than one month but less than one year as of the day 
when it begins to work, it shall pay to the employee his monthly wages at double amount. Where in 
violation of this Law, an employer fails to conclude with an employee a labour contract without fixed 
term, it shall pay to the employee his monthly wage at double amount, starting from the date on which a 
labour contract without fixed term should have been concluded. Meanwhile, according to the Regulation 
on the Implementation of the Labour Contract Law of the PRC, where an employer fails to conclude a 
written employment contract with an employee after the lapse of one full year from the day when the 
employee begins to work, under the Labour Contract Law, the employer shall pay his monthly wages in 
double amount from the day next to the lapse of a full month to the day before it is a full year since the 
employee’s employment, and it shall be deemed that the employer has concluded an employment 
contract without a fixed term with the employee on the day when it is a full year since the employee’s 
employment, and a written employment contract without a fixed term shall be concluded with the 
employee immediately.
Accordingly, wages paid in double amount is supported at the most for 11 months due to failing to 
conclude a written employment contract with an employee.
An employer and employee may, through negotiations, conclude a labour contract without a fixed term. 
Under any of the following circumstances, if the employee proposes or agrees to renew or conclude a 
labour contract, a labour contract without a fixed term shall be concluded unless the employee proposes 
to conclude a fixed-term labour contract.
(a)The employee has already worked for the employer for 10 full years consecutively;
(b)When the employer initially adopts the labour contract system or when a state-owned enterprise re-

concludes the labour contract due to restructuring, the employee has already worked for this 
employer for 10 full years consecutively and the employee attains the age which is less than 10 years 
up to the statutory retirement age; or

(c)The labour contract is to be renewed after two fixed-term labour contracts have been concluded 
consecutively, unless otherwise provided for by law.

An employer shall pay social insurance contributions including basic pension insurance, basic medical 
insurance, work-related injury insurance, underemployment insurance and maternity insurance and 
housing fund for the employees.

8.9 Environmental Laws
The Company’s business operations must be carried out in compliance with all environmental legislation 
and regulations including the Environmental Protection Law. An environmental impact assessment 
report must be filed when applying for the establishment of a company in PRC. A violation of PRC’s 
Environmental Protection Law may result in fines, suspension of operation, closedown or criminal 
liabilities.
8.10 Regulatory
There are many laws and regulations which are applicable to the Group’s operations in the PRC. 
Further information regarding these regulations is set out below:



 
Food Safety Law 
of the People’s 
Republic of 
China

This law is a basic law of China formulated to strengthen food safety 
supervision, food safety levels, and safeguard the safety and legal rights and 
interests of the people. As the Company is engaged in the activities of food 
production, processing, distribution, storage, and transportation, this law is 
materially applicable to all aspects of the Company’s business.

Trademark Law 
of the People’s 
Republic of 
China

This law is formulated for the purposes of strengthening trademark 
administration, protecting the rights to exclusively use trademarks, urging 
producers and dealers to guarantee the quality of products and services, 
maintaining the reputation of trademarks, protecting the interests of 
consumers, producing and dealers, and promoting the development of the 
socialist market economy.

Patent Law of the 
People’s 
Republic of China

This law is formulated to provide protection to inventions. After passing an 
examination process, a patent applicant can be granted with exclusive 
rights to the patent for a specified time period. This law can ensure and 
protect the Company’s exclusive rights to its inventions.

Tort Liability Law 
of the People’s 
Republic of 
China

This law provides protection of the rights and interests of the people. It 
provides clear tort liability and sanctions and promotes social harmony and 
stability. It provides guidance on the Company’s business operations, 
particularly in relation to personal injury, property damage, and other related 
matters.

Environmental 
Protection Law 
of the Peoples’ 
Republic of 
China

This law is formulated to promote the protection and improvement of the 
natural environment, the rational use of natural resources, and the 
prevention of pollution and other public hazards. If an entity violates the 
provisions of the law, the relevant government departments may seize the 
offending facilities and assets.

Company Law 
of the Peoples’ 
Republic of China

This law is a basic law of China formulated to regulate the conduct of 
companies, protect the rights and interests of companies and its 
stakeholders, and maintain social and economic order. This law influences 
the Company’s management and operations.

Contract Law 
of the People’s 
Republic of 
China

This law is formulated to regulate market transactions and is the main law in 
relation to contracts. It covers various areas of contracts, including contract 
formation, individual rights, and contract law protection. This law applies to 
the Company’s contractual activities and protects the interests of the parties 
to the contract.

Labour Contract 
Law of the 
People’s 
Republic of China

This law is formulated to provide clarity on the rights and obligations of the 
parties to a labour contract, protect the legitimate rights and interests of 
labourers, and construct and develop harmonious and stable labour 
relations. It covers various topics, including minimum wage for employees, 
probationary wages, and the requirements for written labour contracts.



 
9. Risk Factors

9.1 Introduction

The Company and its entities are subject to various risks. Some of these are specific to its business 
activities. Others could affect the whole industry or are more general in nature. Individually or in 
combination, these risks may affect the future operating and financial performance of the Company and 
the value of its Shares. There can be no guarantee that the Company will achieve or realise its stated 
business strategy or any of its forward-looking statements contained in this Prospectus. Investors 
should note that past performance is not a reliable indicator of future performance.
This Section describes potential risks associated with the Company’s business and risks associated 
with an investment in the Shares. It does not purport to list every risk that may be associated with the 
Company’s business or with an investment in the Shares now or in the future. The occurrence or 
consequences of some of the risks described in this section are partially or completely outside the 
control of the Company, its Directors and its senior management.
The risks described in this section have been grouped into the following:
• Risks that relate specifically to the Company and the way it operates its businesses
• General risks that relate to investing in the Company’s Shares
Before applying for Shares, investors should satisfy themselves that they have sufficient understanding 
of the risks of investing in the Company, of investing in the industry and of investing in shares in general, 
with regard to their own investment objectives, financial circumstances and taxation position. Investors 
should read this Prospectus in its entirety and should consider consulting their professional advisers 
before deciding on whether or not to apply for the Shares.

9.2 Risks specific to SMFB
9.2.1 Fluctuations in the supply of raw produce
As SMFB's products are dependent on the supply of raw produce, it faces natural agricultural risk, such 
as adverse weather conditions, disease, and pests. Any of these adverse factors can affect the supply of 
raw produce to SMFB. If SMFB is unable to procure sufficient raw produce to meet its production needs, 
SMFB's future profitability may fall, which may have a material adverse effect on SMFB's business, 
financial position, and operating results.

9.2.2 Relationships with suppliers
SMFB has long-term partnerships with numerous key suppliers. Any loss of or changes to these key 
suppliers may have a material and adverse effect on SMFB's production, sales and terms of trade. 
Material increases in the suppliers’ costs could lead to higher procurement costs for SMFB. This could 
impact SMFB's margins and require it to source raw produce from other locations. If this occurs, existing 
gross margins may not be able to be maintained. Further, if SMFB is unable to effectively offset the rise 
in raw material costs with an increase in product prices, SMFB's future profitability may fall, which will 
cause adverse effects on SMFB's business, financial position, operating results and future prospects.

9.2.3 Relationship with Agents
SMFB's products are mainly sold in wholesale quantities to regional sales Agents, which then on-sell 
the products to end-consumers. SMFB has established good ongoing relationships with various 
Agents. These Agents are important to SMFB's sales strategy and are responsible for establishing 
distribution channels and promotional strategies to on-sell SMFB's products to end-consumers. 
However, in the event that an Agent suspends or reduces its business activities, SMFB may not be 
able to find qualified and suitable Agents at an acceptable cost. This may adversely impact SMFB's 
business, financial position, operating results and prospects.

9.2.4 Changes to consumer preferences and consumption patterns
Demand for SMFB's products is affected by changes in consumer behaviour, preferences, and 
perceptions. On an internal micro level, consumer preferences may be influenced by product factors, 
such as packaging, taste, health, safety, and perceived benefits and utility. On an external macro level, 
consumer preferences may be affected by overall economic trends, media, and the activities of key 



 
competitors. In response to changes in consumer behaviour, SMFB may be required to decrease the 
price of its products, increase marketing expenses, and alter its product range. This may result in 
increased costs and decreased profits for SMFB. SMFB may also be required to attempt expansion 
into new product markets in order to meet changing consumer demands. This involves significant costs 
and has no guarantee of success. If SMFB's plans to expand into new product markets are 
unsuccessful, SMFB's financial position, operations and prospects may be adversely affected.
9.2.5 Food safety risk
Food products can have a direct impact on the health and safety of consumers. With the increasing 
emphasis on food safety in China, consumer awareness of food safety and quality has become the top 
priority of food production enterprises. SMFB has been focusing on managing its food product quality 
since its establishment and has strict quality control systems that comply with international standards. It 
implements its quality control systems in all aspects of the food production process, including 
procurement, production, inspection, transportation, storage, and sales. Although SMFB has strict 
quality control systems, there is nevertheless risk that product quality issues may arise. If a quality issue 
arises, SMFB may experience adverse impacts to its sales, reputation and corporate brand image.

9.2.6 Reliance on key personnel
The Company’s business is reliant upon the provision of high-quality operational services by its senior 
personnel. It is also dependent on its skilled training staff and technical personnel for the successful 
and ongoing provision of its business activities. Any change in the quality or quantity of these services, 
or an inability to attract qualified and motivated personnel to provide these services, could affect the 
Company’s business activities and financial performance. The Company’s original founders also retain 
substantial operations roles with the company and have substantial influence over the day to day 
affairs and strategic direction of the company. Without these founders acting in conjunction with other 
management personnel, the Company may not be able to continue its business activities successfully 
or deliver its long-term strategic objectives.

9.2.7 Product price variation
Prices of the main products of SMFB are affected by supply and demand variation in the consumer 
market. Further, aggressive behaviour by competitors may increase competition and result in a 
lowering of prices, and may decrease the overall sales volume should SMFB be unable to match 
prices.
A decrease in commodity prices, a decrease in demand for SMFB's products or a decrease in the 
prices that SMFB can charge for its products, whether as a result of the action of competitors or more 
general economic conditions or supply and demand factors in China, may result in SMFB having to 
reduce its product prices. This in turn may lead to a reduction in the supply of products or an inability 
to grow the supply. A reduction in the price of the products may also reduce the funds available for the 
payment of dividends on Shares.

9.2.9 Competition risks
SMFB is subject to competition from domestic producers of food and beverage products.Certain market 
conditions may cause an increase in competition. For instance, an increase in demand may present the 
opportunity for competitors to expand their operations and markets. Increased competition may reduce 
the volume and price of the products that SMFB is able to sell, which may have a material and adverse 
effect on SMFB's revenue and profitability and, in particular, its growth. SMFB maintains a competitive 
advantage through its supply of high-quality products under its well recognised brand. In addition, SMFB 
is party to and renews contracts with wholesalers to ensure adequate supply channels.
SMFB maintains a competitive advantage through its supply of high-quality products under its well 
recognised brand. In addition, SMFB is party to and renews contracts with various parties, including  
Agents, advertising agencies, and transport providers (see Section 11.4).
9.2.10 Reputation and trademarks
The Company believes that reputation and brand recognition are vital to its business and effective 
protection of intellectual property rights is critical to its interests. SMFB's brand “Mingguan” has been 
registered as a trademark with the Trademark Office of the State Administration for Industry and 



 
Commerce of the People’s Republic of China. SMFB also has various other trademarks as outlined in 
Section 4.6. SMFB also possesses various patents, registered with the State Intellectual Property 
Office, as outlined in Section 4.5.
The Company cannot ensure that there will not be any unauthorised usage or misuse of SMFB's brand; 
and any such infringement of SMFB's intellectual property rights in respect of its trademarks or patents 
may be detrimental to SMFB's reputation, lead to litigation or adversely affect financial performance.

9.3 PRC related risks
9.3.1 Chinese regulatory environment risks
SMFB's operations are subject to PRC Food Safety, Trademark, Patent, Tort Liability, Environmental 
Protection, Company, Contract, and Labour laws and other regulations. The PRC’s legal system is 
largely based on legislation and prior case law has limited precedential value. However, the PRC is 
still in the process of developing a comprehensive statutory framework. Its legal system is still 
considered to be underdeveloped in comparison with the legal systems in some western countries.
Since 1979, the PRC’s legislative bodies have passed laws and regulations dealing with such economic 
matters as foreign investment, corporate organisation and governance, commerce, taxation and trade. 
The legislative tendency since that time has been to grant increased protection to foreign investors. In 
this way, significant progress has been made in the legal system of the PRC.
Despite significant improvement in developing its legal system, there remain uncertainties and/or 
inconsistencies in the enforcement of existing laws and regulations. Most current PRC legislation has 
been passed relatively recently. As a result, there is a lack of established practice regarding the 
implementation, interpretation and enforcement of these laws. For this reason, the interpretation of 
these laws and regulations may be more volatile and less predictable. These uncertainties in the legal 
system may cause delays in any potential litigation, and limit the legal protection that is offered to 
potential litigants. Any litigation in the PRC may be protracted and result in substantial legal costs and/or 
significant diversions of resources and management attention. The occurrence of one or several of 
these risks could have material and adverse effects on SMFB's business, net assets, financial condition 
and operational results.
9.3.2 Repatriation of dividends
As the Company generates the majority of its profits through the business operations of SMFB, the 
ability of the Company to pay dividends to shareholders will be dependent upon the PRC subsidiary’s 
ability to distribute profits from China. 

9.3.3 Government control of currency conversion
The PRC government imposes control on the convertibility of RMB into foreign currencies and, in certain 
cases, the remittance of currency out of China. SMFB receives all of its revenue in RMB. Under existing 
PRC foreign exchange regulations, payment of current account items, including profit distributions, 
interest payments and trade and service-related foreign exchange transactions, can be made in foreign 
currencies without approval from the PRC State Administration of Foreign Exchange (SAFE), by 
complying with certain procedural requirements. Approval from or registration with appropriate 
government authorities is required where RMB is to be converted into foreign currency and remitted out 
of the PRC to pay capital expenses such as the repayment of loans denominated in foreign currencies. 
The PRC government may also at its discretion restrict access in the future to foreign currencies for 
current account transactions. If the foreign exchange control system prevents SMFB from obtaining 
sufficient foreign currencies to satisfy its foreign currency demands, it may not be able to pay dividends 
in foreign currencies to the Company’s shareholders and may limit its ability to finance future activities.

9.3.4 Land-title risk
According to the relevant PRC Law, all lands in the PRC are either state-owned or collectively owned, 
depending on the location of the land. All land in the urban areas of a city or town is state-owned while 
all land in the rural areas of a city or town and all rural land is collectively owned, unless otherwise 
specified by law. Individuals, businesses and other organisations can possess land by being granted 
land-use rights from the local government for limited time periods.



 
According to the Urban Real Estate Administration Law of the People’s Republic of China, the land 
user that has maintained continuous use of the land has the right to apply to the land administration 
department for an extension of the term at least one year before the expiration of the term. The 
Application would be approved except when the tract of land needs to be taken back in consideration 
of public interest.
When the term of the land-use right expires and if the land user has not applied for an extension, the 
right to use the land is returned to the state. Under special circumstances, the state may also take back 
the land before the expiry of the granted land-use right in consideration of public interest. However, the 
state is required to give compensation to the related land user. Such compensation is determined by 
the remaining effective term of the land-use right grant and the conditions of development of the 
reclaimed land.

9.3.5 Lack of insurance coverage
In the PRC it is not customary for businesses to take out extensive insurance protection. Apart from 
social security coverage, SMFB has not taken out any other insurance policies. Any uninsured loss or 
damage, litigation or business disruption may result in substantial cost to the Company and its 
subsidiaries, which could have a material and adverse effect on the Company or its subsidiaries’ 
business, net assets, financial condition, and operational results.
This lack of comprehensive insurance coverage is by reason of the early stage of the PRC insurance 
industry. Insurance companies in PRC offer limited commercial insurance products for the 
pharmaceutical manufacturing sector or only offer them on unattractive terms. When balancing the risk 
of disruption or product liability or risk of damage against the cost of insuring against these risks and the 
difficulty of procuring commercially reasonable insurance product terms, SMFB considers that it is not 
commercially sensible to acquire such insurance.
 

9.4 General investment risks
9.4.1 Potential fluctuations in prices of Shares
The price at which Shares are quoted on First Nations Stock Exchange may increase or decrease due 
to a number of factors. These factors may cause the Shares to trade below the Offer Price. There is no 
assurance that the price for the Shares will increase following quotation on First Nations Stock 
Exchange, even if the Company’s earnings increase.
The market price and demand for shares quoted on First Nations Stock Exchange could be volatile or 
fluctuate due to numerous factors including (i) fluctuations in the domestic and international market for 
listed stocks; (ii) general economic conditions, including interest rates, inflation rates, exchange rates, 
commodity prices and oil prices; (iii) changes to government fiscal, monetary or regulatory policies; 
legislation or regulation; inclusion in or removal from market indices; (iv) the nature of the markets in 
which the Company operates and general operational and business risks.

9.4.2 Liquidity of Shares
There is currently no public market through which the Shares of the Company may be sold. On 
Completion of the Offer, there can be no guarantee that an active market will develop or that the price of 
the Shares will increase. There may be relatively few or many potential buyers or sellers of the Shares 
on First Nations Stock Exchange at any time. This may increase the volatility of the market price of the 
Shares and may prevent investors from acquiring more Shares or disposing of Shares they acquire 
under the Offer. It may also affect the prevailing market price at which the Shareholders can sell their 
Shares. This may result in Shareholders who acquire Shares under the Offer receiving a market price 
for their Shares that is less or more than the Offer Price.

9.4.3 Exposure to general economic conditions
The operating and financial performance of the Company is influenced by a variety of general domestic 
and global economic and business conditions that are outside the control of the Company. Prolonged 
deterioration in general economic conditions may affect the demand for the Company’s products and 



 
may have a material adverse effect on the financial performance, financial position, cash flows, 
dividends, growth prospects and share price of the Company.

9.4.4 Risk of Shareholder dilution
In the future, the Company may elect to issue additional shares to raise funds for the Company’s 
business operations or additional acquisitions that the Company may decide to make. While the 
Company will be subject to the constraints of First Nations Stock Exchange’s Listing Rules regarding the 
percentage of its capital that it can issue within a 12-month period (other than where exceptions apply), 
Shareholders may be diluted as a result of such issuance of shares and fundraisings.

9.4.5 Accounting standards
Any changes in accounting standards or how they are applied and interpreted may have an adverse 
impact on the Company’s financial performance and position.

9.4.6 Taxation reform
Any changes to the current rate of SMFB's income tax in China may affect Shareholder returns. Any 
changes to relevant tax laws, the way they are interpreted and applied or to the current rate of taxes 
could have an adverse effect on the Company’s financial performance or results. In addition, any 
change in tax rules and tax arrangements could also have an adverse effect on the level of dividend 
imputation or franking and Shareholder returns.

9.4.7 Litigation and regulatory inquiries
The Company may be subject to litigation, complaints and other claims or disputes, regulatory inquiries 
or investigations and other enforcement action initiated by customers, employees, regulators or other 
third parties in the course of its business. Such matters may have a materially adverse effect on the 
Company’s financial performance and position. Even if such matters are successfully defended or 
settled without financial consequences, they may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s 
reputation.
9.4.9 Force majeure events
Force majeure events, or events beyond the control of the Company, may occur that could affect the 
world economy, the operations of the Company and the price of the Shares. These events include war, 
acts of terrorism, civil disturbance, political intervention and natural events such as earthquakes, floods, 
fires and severe weather conditions 



 
10. Additional Information

10.1 Registration
The Company, Mingguan USA Limited, was incorporated in New South Wales, Australia. Its 
subsidiary entity, Shaanxi Mingguan Food & Beverage Co., Ltd was incorporated in the People’s 
Republic of China. On Completion of the Offer, the Company will have 60,200,000 Shares, including 
200,000 Shares issued under this Prospectus.
10.2 Corporate Structure
The Company structure at the date of this Prospectus is shown in the diagram below.

10.3 Summary of rights and liabilities attaching to shares and other material provisions of the 
Company’s constitution

10.3.1 General

The rights and liabilities attaching to ownership of the Shares are:
• detailed in the Constitution of the Company which may be inspected during normal business hours at 

the registered office of the Company; and
• in certain circumstances, regulated by the laws of the The Cherokee Nation, First Nations Stock 

Exchange listing rules and the general law.
A summary of the significant rights, liabilities and obligations attaching to the Shares and a description 
of other material provisions of the Constitution are set out below. This summary is not intended to be 
exhaustive and is qualified by the fuller terms of the Constitution. This summary does not constitute a 

Mingguan USA Limited 
ACN | 646 895 829

Shaanxi Mingguan Biotechnology Limited 
Hong Kong Registration No. 70161735

Wholly Foreign Owned Entity 
Shanghai Yi Ang Biotechnology Co. Ltd 
Registration No. 91310115MA1K4ACTX3 

Shaanxi Mingguan Food and Beverage Co., Ltd



 
definitive statement of the rights and liabilities of Shareholders. This summary assumes the Company is 
admitted to the official list of First Nations Stock Exchange.

10.3.2 Voting
At a general meeting, every member present in person or by proxy, attorney or representative has 
one vote on a show of hands and on a poll, one vote for each fully paid Share held. On a poll, partly 
paid Shares confer a fraction of a vote pro-rata to the amount paid up on the Share.

10.3.3 Dividends
Subject to any special terms and conditions of issue, the amount which the Directors from time to time 
determine to distribute by way of dividend are divisible among the members in proportion to the 
amounts paid up on the Shares held by them.

10.3.4 Issue of shares
Subject to the Constitution and the Listing Rules, the Directors have the right to issue shares or grant 
options over unissued shares to any person and they may do so at such times as they think fit and on 
the conditions and the issue price they think fit. Such shares may have preferred, deferred or other 
special rights or special restrictions about dividends, voting, return of capital or otherwise, as the 
Directors think fit.

10.3.5 Variation of class rights
Subject to local laws and the Listing Rules, the rights attached to any class of shares may, unless their 
terms of issue state otherwise, be varied:
• with the written consent of the holders of 75% of the shares of the class; or
• by a special resolution passed at a separate meeting of the holders of shares of the class.

10.3.6 Transfer of Shares
Subject to the Constitution, local laws, the Listing Rules and to the rights or restrictions attached to any 
shares or class of shares, holders of Shares may transfer them by a proper transfer effected in 
accordance with the First Nations Stock Exchange Settlement Operating Rules [confirm these with 
legal] or an instrument in writing in any usual form or in any other form that the Directors approve.
The Directors may decline to register a transfer of Shares for reasons including where the transfer is not 
in registrable form or where the refusal to register the transfer is permitted under the Listing Rules or the 
First Nations Stock Exchange Settlement Operating Rules. If the Directors decline to register a transfer, 
the Company must give the party lodging the transfer written notice of the refusal and the reason for 
refusal.

10.3.7 Small holdings
The Directors may sell the Shares of a Shareholder if that Shareholder holds less than a marketable 
parcel of Shares, provided that the procedures set out in the Constitution are followed. A non-
marketable parcel of Shares is defined in the Listing Rules and is, generally, a holding of shares with a 
market value of less than $500 [confirm with legal].
10.3.8 General meetings and notices
Subject to the Constitution and to the rights or restrictions attached to any shares or class of shares, 
each member is entitled to receive notice of and, except in certain circumstances, to attend and vote at 
general meetings of the Company and receive all financial statements, notices and other documents 
required to be sent to members under the Constitution or local law.

10.3.9 Winding up
Subject to any special or preferential rights attaching to any class or classes of shares, the Constitution, 
local laws and the Listing Rules, members will be entitled in a winding up to share in any surplus assets 
of the Company in proportion to the shares held by them, less any amounts which remain unpaid on 
these shares at the time of distribution.



 
10.3.10 Directors – appointment and removal
The minimum number of Directors is three and the maximum is to be fixed by the Directors but may not 
be more than 10 unless the Company passes a resolution varying that number. Directors are elected at 
annual general meetings of the Company. Retirement will occur on a rotational basis so that any 
Director who has held office for three or more years or three or more annual general meetings 
(excluding any managing Director) retires at each annual general meeting of the Company. The 
Directors may also appoint a Director to fill a casual vacancy on the Board in addition to the Directors 
who will then hold office until the next annual general meeting of the Company.

10.3.11 Directors – voting
Questions arising at a meeting of Directors will be decided by a majority of votes of the Directors 
present at the meeting and entitled to vote on the matter. In the case of a tied vote, the Chairman has a 
second or casting vote, unless there are only two Directors present or qualified to vote, in which case 
the proposed resolution is taken as having been lost.

10.3.12 Directors’ remuneration
The Directors, other than the Executive Directors, are entitled to be paid by such Directors’ fees for their 
services as the Directors decide, provided that the total fees do not exceed the maximum aggregate 
sum as may be approved from time to time by Shareholders in general meeting. The Constitution also 
makes provision for the Company to pay all expenses of Directors in attending meetings and carrying 
out their duties and for the payment of additional fees for extra services or special exertions. Any 
change to that maximum aggregate sum needs to be approved by Shareholders.

10.3.13 Alteration of share capital
Subject to the Listing Rules, the Constitution and local laws, the Company may alter its share capital.

10.3.14 Preference shares
The Company may issue preference shares including preference shares which are liable to be 
redeemed or convertible to ordinary shares. The rights attaching to preference shares are those set out 
in the Constitution.

10.3.15 Variation of the Constitution
The Constitution can only be amended by a special resolution passed by at least three quarters of 
members present and voting at a general meeting of the Company. The Company must give at least 28 
days’ written notice of its intention to propose a resolution as a special resolution.

10.3.16 Share buy-backs
The Company may buy back shares in accordance with local law.

10.3.17 Dividend plan
The Constitution contains a provision allowing Directors to implement a dividend reinvestment plan.
10.4 Material contracts
The Directors consider that there are a number of contracts which are significant or material to the 
Company and its entities or of such nature that an investor may wish to have details of them when 
making an assessment of whether to apply for Shares. The main provisions of these contracts are 
summarised below, or elsewhere in this Prospectus. These summaries do not purport to be complete 
and are qualified by the text of the contracts themselves.

10.4.1 Procurement Agreements
As at the date of this Prospectus, the Company subsidiary entity, SMFB, has entered into Procurement 
Agreements with its key suppliers for the procurement of raw materials. There are two types of 
Procurement Agreements, which are outlined as follows:
• Framework agreements: these agreements are longer-term agreements entered into by SMFB with 

some of its key suppliers. Under the framework agreements, SMFB's places specific orders at regular 
intervals, depending on its production and business demands. The details of each order, including 
quantity and price, are determined by the specific orders, and the specific orders are in turn governed 



 
by the overarching terms of the framework agreement. The parties may enter into a new framework 
agreement at the end of the term if they wish.

• Standalone agreements: these agreements are standalone agreements entered into by SMFB with 
some of its key suppliers. These standalone agreements are entered into on an as-needs basis and 
specify the details of the order, including products ordered, quantity and price. Although the terms of 
these standalone agreements may be varied each time, the key overarching terms have remained 
substantially consistent over the past years. 

10.4.2 Order and Distribution Agreements
As at the date of this Prospectus, SMFB has entered into material framework Distribution Agreements 
with Distribution Agents. Under the framework agreements, specific orders for products are made by the 
Agents. 

10.4.5 Deeds of access, insurance and indemnity for Directors
Access
The Company has entered into deeds of access, insurance and indemnity with each Director which 
contains rights of access to certain books and records of the Company.

Indemnification
Under the Constitution, the Company is required to indemnify all Directors and officers, past and 
present, against all liabilities allowed under law. Under the deed of access, insurance and indemnity, the 
Company indemnifies parties against all liabilities to another person that may arise from their position as 
an officer of the Company or its subsidiaries to the extent permitted by law. The deed stipulates that the 
Company will meet the full amount of any such liabilities, including reasonable legal costs and 
expenses.

Insurance
The Company may arrange and maintain directors’ and officers’ insurance for its Directors to the extent 
permitted by law and under the deed of access, insurance and indemnity, the Company must maintain 
insurance cover for each Director for the duration of the access period.

10.5 Related party contracts
Related party transactions (that is, transactions between a public company and a director, an entity 
controlled by a director, or a parent company of the public company) are regulated in the The Cherokee 
Nation by a requirement for disinterested shareholder approval, unless the transaction is on “arm’s 
length terms”, represents no more than reasonable remuneration, or complies with other limited 
exemptions.
As at the date of this Prospectus, the Company and its entities have not entered into any related party 
transactions.
10.6 Existing Shareholder interests
The table below sets out the interests of Shareholders as at the date of this Prospectus and immediately 
following the Offer:

Shareholders Shares     %

Li Shi 83,428,775 83.4288%

Zhang Yiming 6000000 6%

Hu Shaodong 6000000 6%

Gong Ting 3000000 3%

Wang Zhen 43125 0.0431%

Feng zhigang 30100 0.0301%



 

10.7 Consents to be named and disclaimers of responsibility
Each of the parties referred to below, to the maximum extent permitted by law, expressly disclaims all 
liabilities in respect of, makes no representations regarding and takes no responsibility for any 
statements in or omissions from this Prospectus, other than the reference to its name in the form and 
context in which it is named and a statement or report included in this Prospectus with its consent as 
specified below.
Written consents to the issue of this Prospectus have been given and, at the time of lodgement of this 
Prospectus with The Financial Regulator, had not been withdrawn by the following parties:
• Fox Consultants has given and has not withdrawn prior to the lodgement of this Prospectus with The 

Financial Regulator, its written consent to be named in this Prospectus as the Local Sponsor to the 
Company in the form and context it is so named;

• China Audit Asia Pacific has given, and has not withdrawn prior to the lodgement of this Prospectus 
with The Financial Regulator, its written consent to be named in this Prospectus as Investigating 
Accountant to the 
Company in the form and context it is so named and to the inclusion of its Investigating Accountant’s 
Report;

• China Audit Asia Pacific has given, and has not withdrawn prior to the lodgement of this Prospectus 
with The Financial Regulator, its written consent to be named in this Prospectus as Chinese auditor 
and tax advisers of the Company in the form and context it is so named;

• Clyde & Co has given, and has not withdrawn prior to the lodgement of this Prospectus with The 
Financial Regulator, its written consent to be named in this Prospectus as the legal advisor of the 
Company in the form and context it is so named;

• Zhong Yin Law Firm has given, and has not withdrawn prior to the lodgement of this Prospectus with 
The Financial Regulator, its written consent to be named in this Prospectus as Chinese legal adviser 
to the Company in relation to the Offer in the form and context in which it is named; and

No entity or person referred to above in Section 10.7 has made any statement that is included in this 
Prospectus or any statement on which a statement made in this Prospectus is based, except as stated 

Liu Xinghua 54015 0.0540%

Wang gang 29100 0.0291%

Yao Jiancheng 31200 0.0312%

Wang yonghui 24700 0.0247%

Liang Yuankun 23200 0.0232%

Li Wei Wei 30000 0.0300%

Liu gaojun 44165 0.0442%

Ning Chunping 35800 0.0358%

Zhang Mingguang 30200 0.0302%

Cheng Yaling 30200 0.0302%

LV Xiao long 23600 0.0236%

Chen Hou fu 26800 0.0268%

Du Lin 34910 0.0349%

Fan Sanlin 40530 0.0405%



 
above. Each of the persons and entities referred to above in this Section 10.7 has not authorised or 
caused the issue of this Prospectus, does not make any offer of New Shares and expressly disclaims 
and takes no responsibility for any statements in or omissions from this Prospectus except as stated 
above in this Section 10.7.
10.8 Costs of the Offer
If the Offer proceeds, the estimated costs of the Offer, by type of cost, are shown in the table below:

10.9 Working capital statement
The Directors believe that, on Completion of the Offer, the Company will have sufficient working capital 
to carry out its objectives as stated in this Prospectus.

10.10 Governing law
This Prospectus and the contracts that arise from the acceptance of the Applications and bids under this 
Prospectus are governed by the laws applicable in the The Cherokee Nation and each Applicant under 
this Prospectus submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the The Cherokee Nation.

10.11 Legal proceedings
So far as the Company is aware, there is no current or threatened civil litigation, arbitration 
proceedings or administrative appeals, or criminal or governmental prosecutions of a material in 
which the Company is directly or indirectly concerned which is likely to have a material adverse effect 
on the business or financial position of the Group.

10.12 Statement of Directors
Each Director has authorised the issue of this Prospectus and has consented to the lodgement of this 
Prospectus with The Financial Regulator.
This Prospectus is signed by a Director of Mingguan USA Limited

Chairman
Li Shi

Estimated expenses (US$)

Local Sponsor Fees $50,000.00

Corporate advisory $10,000.00

Legal fees and other advisory fees $50,000.00

The Financial Regulator and First Nations Stock Exchange Fees $30,000.00

Audit, investigating accountant and taxation fees $50,000.00

Printing, marketing and other costs $10,000.00

Total estimated expenses $200,000.00



 
Glossary

Applicant A person who has applied to subscribe for Shares under the Offer.

Application A valid application for Shares made under this Prospectus.

Application Form The form accompanying or attached to this Prospectus by which an 
Applicant may apply for Shares.

Application Money 
or Application 
Amount

Money payable for Shares applied for by an Applicant.

Board The Board of Directors of the Company.

BPAY® BPAY Pty Ltd (ACN 69 079 137 518)

CEO Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

China or PRC The People’s Republic of China.

Closing Date 5:00pm (AEST) on 10 January 2021 or such other date as the Board may 
decide, and is the date on which the Offer closes.

Company or 
MGUS

Mingguan USA Limited, a company incorporated in New South Wales, 
Australia. 

Completion The issue of the Shares to Successful Applicants.

The Financial 
Regulator

The Cherokee Nation Financial Services Authority.

Directors The directors of the Company, and Director means any one of them.

EBIT Earnings before interest and taxes.

EBITDA Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation.

Executive Director A Director appointed as an executive director of the Company.

Existing 
Shareholders

Those persons or entities who are holders of Shares of the Company as 
at the date of this Prospectus.

Exposure Period Has the meaning given in “Important Information”.

Financial 
Information

Has the meaning given in Section 6.

FY Financial year, ending on 31 December of any year, and the two digits 
following FY indicate which year (for example FY2018 means the financial 
year ending 31 December 2018).

Historical 
Financial 
Information

Has the meaning given in Section 6.

Holding Statement A holding statement of Shares.

Hong Kong or HK The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of China.

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards.

Investigating 
Accountant

China Audit Asia Pacific.



 
Local Sponsor Fox Consultants

Listing The admission of the Company to the Official List of First Nations Stock 
Exchange.

Listing Date The date that the Company is admitted to the Official List of First Nations 
Stock Exchange.

Listing Rules The official listing rules of First Nations Stock Exchange.

First Nations 
Stock Exchange 

First Nations Stock Exchange Limited or the First Nations Stock Exchange 
Stock Exchange, as the context requires. 

First Nations 
Stock Exchange 
Settlement 
Operating Rules

The settlement rules of the settlement facility provided by First Nations Stock 
Exchange.

New Share(s) Share(s) to be issued under the Offer.

Non-Executive 
Director

A Director appointed as a Non-Executive director of the Company.

NPAT Net profit after taxes.

Offer The invitation in this Prospectus to subscribe for Shares.

Offer Price $1.00 per Share.

Official List The official list of entities that First Nations Stock Exchange has admitted 
and not removed.

Official Quotation The quotation of the Shares on First Nations Stock Exchange.

Prospectus This prospectus and any supplementary prospectus in relation to this 
document.

R&D Research and development.

RMB or ¥ Chinese Yuan, the lawful currency of the PRC.

Section A section of this Prospectus.

Share(s) Ordinary fully paid share(s) in the Company.

Shareholder A holder of Share(s).

Successful 
Applicant

An Applicant who is issued Shares under the Offer.

TFN Tax file number.

US or United 
States

United States of America.

US Securities Act US Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

US$ or USD US dollars, the lawful currency of the United States of America.

VIE A Variable Interest Entity

WOFE A Wholly Owned Foreign Enterprise



 


